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HYDRO OTTAWA LIMITED - PANEL 4, RESUMED

William Bennett, Previously Sworn


Michael Grue, Previously Sworn


Jane Scott, Previously Sworn

Geoff Simpson, Previously Sworn

MS. HARE:  Good morning, everyone.  This is day 2 of our hearing in the matter of the application EB-2011-0054 submitted by Hydro Ottawa Limited for an order or orders approving rates for the distribution of electricity to be effective January 1, 2012.

Before we proceed to the panel that will continue with OM&A, are there preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I have a few preliminary matters to raise, if I may.  First, there have been some undertaking responses brought to the hearing room.  I'm not sure if they've been passed up to you.  These are the responses to undertakings L1.6 and L1.7.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Just before I come to my other two matters, I believe Mr. Buonaguro wants to ask a question about these responses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Just with respect to undertaking L1.7, I just want to make sure I know what reference is being updated, because it refers to a revised LRAM calculation and refers to Exhibit MT2.4, but is it something in MT2.4 that's being updated, or is it some other table that's being updated?

MS. SCOTT:  It would be the original exhibit -- well, the updated original Exhibit I3-1-1, that calculated the LRAM.  So the total number, the 979, is updating the 857, I think the number is, yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, the other two things that I was hoping to raise was, first, I would appreciate if I could address a comment to the Board about the argument schedule that was raised yesterday.

MS. HARE:  Yes, please.

MR. CASS:  As I recall the proposal, it was that Hydro Ottawa would proceed with argument-in-chief today and intervenors' arguments would be November 22nd.  What I would like to propose to the Board, if it is workable, is that in the circumstances, rather than trying to scramble to make that oral submission-in-chief this afternoon, if perhaps that could be done on Thursday, which was a day set for this hearing.

There are several reasons for that.  First and most importantly, I think the Board is likely to get a more coherent oral argument-in-chief from me on Thursday than this afternoon, and I note in passing that that is particularly so when we see the length of the examinations that are still expected for today.

Second, I would think that intervenors can get started on their arguments, anyway, without -- at least get started, without hearing the argument-in-chief.  So I don't think there needs to be any time lost by doing it Thursday, rather than today.

Third, I'm told that there's a very good chance the undertakings could be answered by Thursday, which I think would also be helpful.

MS. HARE:  I'm already convinced, Mr. Cass.  So is Mr. Quesnelle.  So we have left Thursday morning open, so that's fine.  What I'm not sure, though, is whether or not Staff would be ready to go on the 18th with written, if we hear your argument-in-chief on the 10th.

But we can deal with that later.  But we've left Thursday morning aside, so we'll move that to Thursday morning.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

The third thing was I believe that Ms. Scott has a couple of items to address, and Mr. Grue, as well, just before cross-examination resumes.  So I'll turn that over to them.

MS. SCOTT:  There were two subject-to-check comments yesterday, and I'd just like to address them.

The first one was on the OPA results for the 2010 CDM programs, and we had handed out MT2.4 in the technical conference with the high-level results.  And that refers to some detailed results, and I think that was what Board Staff was asking for.

We have not yet received those from the OPA.  So all we have at the moment is the results in MT2.4.

The second one was related to the load forecast and looking at the growth in sales for uncalibrated.  I will have to take an undertaking number for that in order to provide it for you.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  So the undertaking will be to provide a table similar to LT2.6 prepared with the non-calibrated number, for example, 7,880 for 2012, and whatever the number is for 2011.  That will be undertaking L2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.1:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE SIMILAR TO LT2.6 PREPARED WITH THE NON-CALIBRATED NUMBER.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I do have a question about this undertaking response, L1.6.  This is a significant difference in the LRAM claim from the 859 that you've asked for, and you indicated the other day that you were not revising that and I asked you what the dollar amount was.

Now, does that mean that you're not going to come forward at a future time and ask for an adjustment?  So you're going to forego this additional 140-some-thousand?

MS. SCOTT:  That was our intention, yes.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, if I may just ask a question of Ms. Scott with respect to the first answer she gave concerning the subject-to-check OPA report?

Yesterday at the technical conference, you had indicated that the number for the LRAM in the further OPA report was higher than what is being asked for in the current application.  And I'm not sure, then, if you haven't received the report, perhaps you've received a summary of the report or some other form of communication to know that the number is in fact higher.

MS. SCOTT:  The only thing we have received is the MT2.4, and that has the results in it.  It's just not broken down by every -- light bulbs versus program and component of the program.  So it is the results from MT2.4 that were used for the calculation of the 900,000 LRAM.

MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Then I think we're ready -- oh, I'm sorry.  One more thing. 

MR. GRUE:  A complete review of the transcript wasn't done, but I did note one item I wanted to bring to your attention.  On page 94, line 14 and 15 of the transcript, it reads:
"Until such time as we can put external vendors into the market..."

I believe it should read:  Until such time as we can put external debt to the market.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters?

MR. CASS:  That's all for me, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Then I think we're ready for your cross, Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  As I did yesterday, I'm going to use the presentation system to put up the references I'm speaking about to you, and feel free to look at your own references if you have to.  But so everyone can follow along, I'm going to put them on the screen.

I think in this particular cross, a lot of them I'm just touching on to remind you of the context of the actual question, but if you want to stop and actually look at it, just let me know.  So they might not be on the screen as long as they might otherwise be.

I'm going to start with just some brief follow-up from yesterday's cross, and with respect -- in reference to the transcript, so I'm putting on the screen page 122 of the transcript from yesterday with respect to some cross on OM&A.

And the first question I have, and it has do with the highlighted portion on the screen, where it was said by Mr. Simpson, quote:
"And as one other notable one-time change, there was a one-time benefit in 2010 related to our bad debts expense, where we had changed our thresholds and methodology for the allowance for doubtful accounts in 2008 based on the economic situation at the time and the fact that we had lost one of our largest customers."


And I got a little confused from that and I wanted to follow up.  My understanding from that description is that, in 2008, your bad debt expenses increased because of the conditions that you speak about in this quote; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  In 2008, in fact, as part of the 2008 year-end process, we re-examined how we provide our allowance for doubtful accounts, which ultimately hits bad debt expense.  And based on the economic conditions at the time and the fact that, really, at exactly that moment, January 14th, 2009, we had heard about the bankruptcy of one of our largest customers, the economic conditions at the time and that combined made us think we should go back and look at how we provide our allowance for doubtful accounts, which ultimately hits bad debts.

So we changed the methodology at that time to create effectively an economic provision, which at the time was about $600,000, I believe.  And it was created at that time, which would have hit 2008 bad debt expense.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that was an increase in the expense in 2008?

MR. SIMPSON:  In '08, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And then in 2010 you changed your threshold methodology -- I want to say back.  Maybe not exactly the same, or -- you changed it back, which created a decrease in the expense of around -- there it is -- of around 800,000?

MR. SIMPSON:  About 800,000, yeah.  Essentially, we reversed the methodology, the economic provision we had created at year-end 2008, based on our actual experience through '09 and '10.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My question is:  Why is it described as a one-time change, a one-time benefit in 2010?  Have you changed the methodology since 2010?

MR. SIMPSON:  We haven't changed the methodology again.

It's the reversal that's a one-time benefit to the 2010 actual bad debt expense.  Our methodology continues through '11, and our bad debt expense is running at essentially the same sort of numbers you had seen in the previous years.

So what's one-time and non-recurring was the reversal of that provision in 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But presumably the effect of that change in 2010 is persisting?

MR. SIMPSON:  The effect of the change persists, but what doesn't is the additional expense that we had taken in 2008 in order to bypass our allowance for doubtful accounts, increase our allowance for doubtful accounts based on the economic situation at the time.  Through our experience in '09 and '10, where our bad debts were not significantly greater than they had been historically, we reversed that provision off the balance sheet, off the allowance for doubtful accounts back through the P&L, which becomes a credit to our expenses.

That will not recur in 2011 and beyond.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then, second -- and you'll see it's on page 123 of the transcript -- you were talking about reduced revenue or an anticipated reduced revenue in 2010 and the reaction by the audit committee and the Board to, quote -- or a reduction in revenue or anticipated reduction in revenue, Which, quote:

"...drove us to keeping an eye on controlling expenses."

So as I understood that when you foresaw in 2010 that your revenue was going to be less than what you anticipated or what was -- well, less than anticipated.  That was a driver to the company to control its expenses?  Is it that simple?

MR. SIMPSON:  It was a driver to the company to manage and control some discretionary expenses and potentially some hiring, in order to ensure that our bottom line was achieved.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now I have a number of, I'd call them, discrete areas.  Some are for clarification and some are a little more than clarification, but I'm going to run through them as quickly as I can.

First -- actually, sorry, I made a mistake.  I do have one more clarification question or a follow-up to a question from last -- from yesterday.

Mr. Aiken asked about when the company received Board approval of the 2011 test year budget.  So as 2011 became a test year versus a -- I guess a -- well, my understanding is it was supposed to be a test year budget, but presumably there was a point in time where you were putting to the Board what was going to be the rebasing year.

It was supposed to be a test year, for 2011?

MS. SCOTT:  My -- I didn't understand Mr. Aiken's question to be that.  But I think --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I may have used the word "test" when I think I meant base year.  Sorry --


MS. SCOTT:  Bridge year?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Bridge year.  Sorry.  That's what he asked you about.  Sorry.

He asked you about it being approved as a bridge year.  Does that mean that there was a separate approval to your board of directors to have 2011 used as a test year?  And if so, when was that approval sought and given?

MR. SIMPSON:  The approval I mentioned yesterday on February 1 of 2011 was the -- was for the 2011 budget, and that was after our 2011 rate application had been deferred.  So that became the 2011 bridge year budget, and the OM&A lines up to that.

So your question is what?

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you sought approval -- when did you seek approval from your board for the 2011 budget that underpinned your -- I want to call it failed rebasing application for 2011?  That would have been some time before that, obviously?

MR. SIMPSON:  It would have been some time before that, within 2010, yes, as we reported to the Board on our process for the rate application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have a month in 2010 that that would have happened?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have a specific month in front of me, but similar to this year's process, it would have been around the time frame of submitting the application, so the spring.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  That's sufficient for my purposes.  Thanks.

Now I'm going to move into my questions.

I'm going to start with a reference at Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 17, and this is a description of the communications team and the services that they provide.

And we couldn't find in the evidence the actual costs associated with this particular subheading of OM&A expense.  My understanding from the context is that it would be in the administration and general budget; is that correct?  Or am I wrong?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, I don't believe that's in the administrative and general.  I'll just flip to the exhibits.

I believe it's under the communications area.  Community relations area, sorry.  Just a moment.

So from a USofA perspective, the communications teams noted in what's on the screen probably falls under the community relations area, specifically, USofA 5410.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And do you have a separate cost breakout for that particular area from 2008 to 2012?  I don't think it's separately broken out anywhere in the evidence, is it?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have it specifically broken out here, no.  I can tell you that, as I mentioned yesterday, the -- some of the costs that you see in the outer years there, meaning -- not the outer years but the more recent years, in '11 and '12, do relate to the ramp-up of our customer service strategy, which is in Exhibit D1-4-4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mm-hmm?

MR. SIMPSON:  Which has been a priority initiative of the corporation really since 2009, where it ramped up in 2009 with an external consultant report that pointed to some specific areas that could be improved for the customer experience.

And in Exhibit D1-4-4, those initiatives are listed to be rolled out in '11 and '12, and they have been; began definitely in '11.

Those include improvements to contact centre management, outage communications, self-serve options through our website.

I'm looking at D1-4-4, page 4, at this point.  Some reporting and analytics, some business process redesign, and then there's a table in that exhibit that speaks to some of the specific projects underway within that strategy, and the benefits to the Hydro Ottawa customer and the year of expenditures.  And primarily, you'll see there it's '11 and '12, so --


MR. BUONAGURO:  So this reference to communications is that?  Is that what you're telling me?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  It is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  That helps.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, can I just insert a question here on this particular element, if you don't mind?

Mr. Simpson, could you expand on -- I'm just reading what Mr. Buonaguro's highlighted here, and the area of the interfaces with the media and local government, I've got that.  But it goes on to -- and this is at the very last lines here:

"Manages the on-call and outage support procedures, schedules and training."

Can you give me a little better feel for exactly how much that covers in that area?

MR. SIMPSON:  As far as the costing of that area, or what it does?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just the general description of –- like, it seems very close to an operations-type of a description here.  It takes me a little bit by surprise, if nothing else.  I'm just wondering what type of activity's here.

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, at the high level, and maybe Mr. Bennett could expand a little further, but at the high level, it's responsibility for -- I mean, that sentence as a whole, what you've got is the link between our website, our brochures, and in the case of on-call and outage support, the communication efforts that go on between our website, some updates that happen automatically to customers who are city councillors, for example, and other customers who are linked in, and even from a little more of a technological perspective, between our outage management system and our other systems in order to have it linked, working quickly, in real-time almost.

And that's been a lot of what the initiatives we've been into the last couple of years have been improving.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  No, that's helpful.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Let me ask my question, too, then, since -- I'd ask it at the end, but the customer service strategy, you said it's being rolled out in 2011 and '12, and then in '13, would your costs be lower, more like what they were in '8 to '9?

Is this a separate initiative that costs money to launch, and then the costs will go down?

MR. SIMPSON:  We're not expecting that the costs will go down.  I think a lot of what you'll see in both our -- some of the capital expenditures may disappear.  The customer service strategy, I believe there's an exhibit that breaks it out, the two -- not an exhibit, sorry, an interrogatory.

So some of the capital expenditures may fall off.  But from an operating perspective, what we're getting is ongoing improvements to communication and customer service and some of the website applications, and those sort of things.

So maintaining those from an operating perspective, it's believed that those costs will continue on an almost permanent basis.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. BENNETT:  I can add some information, if you want, re that last line.  It's relating specifically to their role in the outage management process.  So, as Mr. Simpson was talking about, there's been an ongoing team working together, working with our IVR system and our OMS system, so that when calls come in from a customer, the IVR system will recognize the customer's phone number, will recognize their address, will input the information directly into our OMS system.

The OMS system has some smarts in there that says, if all these customers are out and they're all fed by that transformer, likely the transformer is out, and will help direct our restoration services.

They're also working on a callback feature, so that when that transformer is repaired, it will identify all the customers, call them back to say, The power should be back on; if there are any issues, this can be resolved.

The communications team also has people on call, so they get a text message and information any time there's an outage.  They deal with the media, then, so we don't have to deal with the media.

They deal with ramping up communications as an outage carries on, if that's the case, that type of thing.  They deal with communicating with our CEO, as well, and keeping him up to date.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, the linkage is a lot more clear to me now.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  I hope I didn't ruin your tempo, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're not ruining my tempo.  I just say that my time line doesn't anticipate this kind of answer and additional questions that I haven't thought of, so I don't say that there -- I'm welcome to have them, but I don't want to be punished when my time runs over.

MS. HARE:  You won't be.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The chess match clock is going.  We'll take you off the clock while we're talking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not the one using the clock.  Thank you.

Actually, I'll skip ahead.  I had, actually, some questions along those lines, and I'm going to skip ahead to them to keep the context together in the transcript.

I'm going to pull up Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, IR No. 17, which I think is the interrogatory the Panel may have been referring to in terms of breaking out the costs.

And we see here that the operating expenses, which are what I'm concerned about in this cross-examination, for 2011 for the customer service strategic plan are $550,000 for 2011 and $880,000 for 2012.

And then if I go over the page, and I've it highlighted here, it says -- well, I'll actually start from the top.  It says:

"Operating expenses include project management support costs to examine Hydro Ottawa's customer service delivery model and to redesign many of the customer centric processes throughout 2011 and 2012, in tandem with the upgrade of the CIS system and the implementation of the new Customer Service Standards mandated by the Board.  This will be accompanied by documentation of the various processes and staff training."

And then highlighted I have:
"In addition, there are a number of annual recurring expenses in order to maintain the new business applications implemented under the Customer Service Strategic plan..."

And then I'm going to skip down and it says:
"These Operating Costs total approximately $250,000 per year and are included in Table 1 above."

So on my reading of that, it suggests that for 2012, in particular, of the 880,000 in operating expenses, you described approximately 250,000 as being recurring operating costs.

That suggests to me, and can you confirm, that the remaining 630,000 or so of the costs are non-recurring costs?  They're part of the costs that have been spent over the two years to establish the plan?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well -- and this is the exhibit I was referring to that does break the costs out.  So the additional incremental costs, I guess, from -- on the operating side only, from 550 to 880 are noted there.

The strategy is a comprehensive strategy, and the exhibit itself goes through a number of different items that are to be reviewed over the two- and three-year period since its inception in 2009, which began with the advice of external consulting.

So there's a number of different programs, both from a capital perspective and an operating perspective, that will be reviewed each year.  As is mentioned in the interrogatory, there will be continuous upgrades to our "MyHydroLink" functionality, which is our web site for use by the customers, which has become more important than ever with the implementation of a time-of-use program.

We now have very recently -- in fact, we have functionality available that will give updates and -- what do you call them?  I guess notes.  I'm not sure it's tweets, but notification to customers, once they're on our MyHydroLink, about usage patterns and those sort of things.  And that will evolve.

It's a fairly new program.  The technology is fairly new to us.  The time-of-use impact is very new to us.  And those will evolve over the next two to three years.

We expect at this day and age, our ongoing updates to our external web site functionality will be a continuous process, and that's in the money that you see there.

There will be ongoing surveys, as it says, which will require some operating costs.  There is staff training, and it's staff training beyond just the staff that deal with customers on a daily basis, but we've launched staff training across every corner of the organization to improve the customer-centric culture of the corporation.  And that will be renewed on an ongoing basis year, year over year over year.

So, as I mentioned earlier, there is not an expectation that the operating costs will decrease from the 2012 levels.  They may be diverted to different directions as the strategy continues, but they will be maintained.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now skipping back, I'm going to pull up Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 3, which -- and I've highlighted here -- it's table 2, OM&A cost driver table.  And under "Other Compensation", you're showing an increase in other compensation costs from 2008 to 2012.

You're showing the -- I guess the incremental addition each year, 0.8 million in 2009, 1.1 million in 2010, 1.5 in both 2011 and 2012.  And I think you spoke about this in your opening briefly yesterday.  Is this the 1 percent^ of the total compensation increase in 2012 that you were talking about yesterday?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  That does pick up the benefit increases.  And there is others in there, but primarily that's the benefit increases that we've experienced both from OMERS and collective bargaining, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to break it down between the increase related to pensions and the increase related to premiums being paid to the benefit provider, the $1.5 million?

MR. SIMPSON:  We certainly could break that out.  I may be able to do it on the fly here.

I'll refer the Panel to Exhibit D3-1-1, our employee compensation breakdown, page 8.  So related to the pension costs there, there is further information about the increase, page 8, table 8 at the bottom.

So you'll see the pension costs there are OMERS payments, pension premiums '08 through '12, so from 2010 actual through 2011 bridge is approximately a million-dollar increase or about 31 percent or about 31 percent.

So that's a million of the $1.5 million you'll see on the cost driver table, so the balance would be the remainder, the other pieces of benefits.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Can you describe what Hydro Ottawa has been doing to try and control these increases?  Because they seem high, particularly in the 2011, 2012 years.

MR. SIMPSON:  Related to the pension costs?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, to both.

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know that Hydro Ottawa has any control on the pension costs.  They're driven by the requirements from OMERS, again, as noted in the exhibit.

MR. BUONAGURO:  How about the pensions, then?

MR. SIMPSON:  Pardon me?

MR. BUONAGURO:  How about the pensions, then?

MR. SIMPSON:  The pensions are the OMERS costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, the benefits.

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, the benefits costs pick up a bundle of pieces.  There would be the employee health tax, I believe is in that.  There is our medical and dental coverage.  And that's a function of collective bargaining.  So through collective bargaining, there is, of course, efforts to reduce those costs as much as possible.  But our agreement was just updated last year, and these are the increases we've been seeing, and will experience.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Moving along, I'm going to pull up a table that we saw yesterday, and this is Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 10.

I believe Mr. Aiken took you through this table, and I believe there is an outstanding undertaking on this table, as well?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I don't need the undertaking response for that.  I just -- for reference purposes we see here that one of the metrics you have here is OM&A cost per customer.

I wanted to ask whether Hydro Ottawa has done a comparison of its OM&A costs per customer to that of other utilities, and particularly what you might consider your cohorts?  And if so, if you could provide that.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, we have looked at -- from the electricity distributor performance, the year handbooks, and looked at both overall for all distributors, but also for our cohort. 

Would you prefer if I take that as an undertaking, or...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, firstly, confirm -- so what you've done is looked at what the Board has put together?

MS. SCOTT:  The OEB 2010 yearbook, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I guess you're offering to put that on the record?

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  I can -- when we looked at the 2010 OEB yearbook, we ranked, in terms of lowest, 13th out of 77 in OM&A per customer.

Our cohort is Veridian, Toronto, EnWin.  It's large, southern cities with medium-high underground.  And among those, we certainly were the lowest, and we were below the average of the cohort.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. SCOTT:  Or below both the average of the cohort and the average of the industry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But what you're quoting to me is directly out of the Board's report?

MS. SCOTT:  Is taking the numbers in the handbook, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I want to see the whole report, I should just go there?

MS. SCOTT:  You could.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was just trying to see if you had some other -- some other --


MS. SCOTT:  Oh, other mean?  No, no.  We were using that data to compare.  And then we used our '11 and '12 to compare back to those averages, as well, as calculated in table 4, and to be updated without the property tax.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Because that wouldn't show up in the handbook?  Or the --


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.  It only has to 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I want to take a look and compare Hydro Ottawa's application to the Board's number, I just have to take your application number and stick it in where Hydro Ottawa is, where it says "Hydro Ottawa"?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think we can do that.

I have some questions about incentive pay.

I'm putting up -- I'm going to put up briefly a cite from K4, Issue 4.4, Interrogatory No. 9, which confirms that the total budgeted incentive pay for 2012 is $665,000.  Do you see that?

I need one person to say yes on the record.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then we asked at Undertaking LT2.9 from the -- well, I'll first of all say at K4, Issue 4.4, IR No. 26, we asked if metrics are used to determine the incentive pay, and the answer we got essentially was, under part (b):
"Yes, quantitative metrics are used to determine incentive pay, as are qualitative measures, dependent on the position."

And then Undertaking LT2.9 at the technical conference, we asked for some more details, and you'll see the question was:

"Provide a list of performance metrics considered."

And the response there is I think there's something in the order of 50 different metrics, depending on the position and such, but we noticed that OM&A per customer under the heading "Organizational effectiveness" pops up as one of the metrics.

But unfortunately, the undertaking response doesn't tell us how that measure feeds into the incentive pay regime, but under the "Organizational effectiveness" category.

Could you give us some details about how that operates?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sure.  I'll flip through the undertaking as necessary, but...

The full suite of metrics that you see there is at each year-end, through a reporting to our governance committee and our board, there's an analysis of each of these metrics under the banners of our four pillars, financial strength, organizational effectiveness, customer service and stakeholder relations, community investment, something along those lines.

They're presented to the board as a whole, and quantified within that report.  And out of that becomes the corporate measure, which feeds into the incentive pay.

So each one of the metrics that are listed here becomes part of that report on an annual basis.  Well, it's reviewed more often than an annual basis for many of them, but that's when it becomes relevant toward the incentive pay.

So the specifics of the weighting given to the OM&A per customer, I don't specifically have that here.  The whole suite kind of gets reviewed and presented and discussed at the governance committee, and then ultimately approved at the board level, in order to determine the appropriate corporate standard for the incentive pay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me just ask some follow-up questions.

And specific to OM&A per customer, then, for any particular year, is there a target, a threshold, a particular measure?  And if so, can you give that to me, in 2012, for example?

MR. SIMPSON:  There's targets for each, throughout.  Within some of these targets, though, they may not specifically be quantified.  They may be improvement over last year, or maintenance of last year, or a prior year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, remember I'm asking specifically about OM&A.  So perhaps you can focus your answer on that particular metric.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.  I don't have the specific target for OM&A per customer here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So maybe we can put together an undertaking?

MR. SIMPSON:  We could.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So the undertaking will be to, A, provide the target -- I'll call it a target.  I'm not sure that's the word that's used in your report, but whatever the word is, I'm going to use the word "target" --OM&A per customer that's used for the purposes of determining incentives.  And I'm looking particularly for –- I would -- ideally the years 2008-2012, if you have them.  Presumably you have the later ones.  If you don't have the early ones, you can explain that in the undertaking.

And then, two, how those targets are developed in each year.  Presumably there's a generic process for doing it, and then you might talk about how it was developed in the particular year.

MR. SIMPSON:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking L2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.2:  TO PROVIDE TARGET OM&A PER CUSTOMER FOR 2008 TO 2012 USED FOR THE PURPOSES OF DETERMINING INCENTIVES, AND EXPLAIN METHODOLOGY FOR DETERMINING TARGETS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, just to close that off, it sounded like you were saying that any particular -- well, is there a direct link between a particular dollar amount in the incentive that any particular person is getting and a particular metric?  Is it a one-to-one, or is there a, If you meet check box X on a particular metric, you will get X number of dollars, or is it a more holistic approach?  You seem to be describing the second.

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, there's two components to the incentive pay.  There's a corporate standard, meaning the success of the organization translating into incentive pay for those who qualify, and then there's personal deliverables for each individual who is eligible for the incentive pay.

So the list that you have in this undertaking that is on the screen is specific to the corporate standard in any given year.  Whether each one of those falls into the personal deliverables of any particular staff person would be a question within each one of those, and depending on where they are in the organization and what have you.

So primarily what you've got here is for the corporate standard.

MR. BENNETT:  Perhaps I could add to that.  So this is a corporate customer service scorecard.  A bunch of items are on that scorecard and they're tracked, and so -- for corporate performance.

But as you've described there, if you look at your list there, under reliability, for example, within my group we would have specific targets.  So I have specific deliverables, and, within my group, they have specific deliverables on reliability issues.  We also have specific deliverables on capital program delivery issues.

So all of the individual stuff is supposed to roll up into some of these categories, and the corporate scorecard is the conclusion of it, if you like, as we report monthly where we're at.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  That's helpful.

So does that mean that, depending on your position, and again specific to OM&A per customer, there may be specific personal deliverables on a -- measured on the basis of OM&A per customer?

MR. BENNETT:  I'm not as familiar with OM&A per customer but...

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.  I can't think of a specific personal deliverable that would include something as generic or high-level as OM&A per customer.  It's not to say there isn't one, but my expectation is that there wouldn't be.  It's more tied to the corporate standard.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So how about on the existing undertaking, when you're looking at the targets, you might just check to see if there are personal deliverables, and, if there are, you can describe some of them?  I understand your answer is there probably isn't, or, if there is, there may be one or two, but while you're looking at OM&A per customer, you might look at that as well?

MR. SIMPSON:  We can look into that and report back, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Moving along, I'm going to pull up from Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, Interrogatory No. 25, and I'll go to the question first.

The question is part (c):

"Does Hydro Ottawa's senior management provide a documented policy or direction to the various departments preparing budgets?  If yes, please provide the communications provided for the preparation of budgets for 2009 through 2012."

And then you'll see here we have an attachment here as a memo.  This particular memo is dated June 30th, 2009, re 2010 to 2014 budget plan.

Generally speaking, we're interested in how Hydro Ottawa tried to control OM&A costs in their budgetary process, and, as a result of our questions, this is what we got or at least part of what we got.

You'll see I've highlighted a particular part of the memo.  It says:

"Top Top Down Approach:  the Opex budget will be in accordance with 2008-2012 Strategic Direction and Financial Outlook.  Regular Opex will be flat lined to the aggregate 2009 budget amount, adjusted for an inflation factor not to exceed revenue increase.  Finance perform trending analysis on 2010 assumptions and will meet the Directors in each Division."

Could you explain what that means, and particularly the part that says "not to exceed revenue increase"?

MR. SIMPSON:  What that means -- I guess there's a few points to that paragraph, and this is -- this is in relation to our 2010 budget process, as has been noted.

The concept is that our OM&A expenses would be flatlined and not to increase by anything greater than what our revenue increase for the year was projected to be and that we in finance -- this is fairly early in our budget process.  In a non-rate application year, as a June memo, we would do some trending analysis on previous years' spending and current year's spending and build those into the assumptions and meet with the directors in each of the operational areas.

So, generally, the concept is that our first volley, our first approach from an executive perspective and a finance perspective as a guideline, is that if our revenue increase for next year is projected to be half a percent or less, that we do everything we can to have that as a starting point for our OM&A increases to be the same.

And as I mentioned last year, through the IRM period that we just -- or, sorry, yesterday, through the IRM period that we've just been going through, we've been seeing really very small percentage increases in our distribution revenue, which is of course primarily -- or by far the largest piece of our revenue.

So the concept within that is that expenses don't outpace the growth of our revenues.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So this was, as you said, a 2009 memo presumably planning for 2010?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in focussing on this third bullet that I've highlighted, has this principle been met in the 2012 rate application?

MR. SIMPSON:  The 2012 rate application, it has been met for the test year in comparison to the bridge year.  The increases that have been built in, as I highlighted yesterday, are inflationary, driven by collective bargaining, and then on top of that there are some new initiatives, some priority initiatives, that do get some funding.

And the priority initiatives, getting funding within any budget year, is what's picked up in bullet point number 4, where there are significant new initiatives that they require approval by the executive before being entered into the budget.

So, in this case, for the 2012 test year, that would pick up the workforce strategy, the customer service strategy, the IT strategy, et cetera.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So when you said the principle is met, if I were to, in that third bullet, replace 2009 with 2011, and then -- in the second sentence, I guess it is, and then replace 2010 with 2012, you're saying that that would apply to the 2012 application budget?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, it's a little bit of apples to oranges going back this far.  But the concept or the principle of our regular operating expenditures being flatlined from this year's number and adjusted for an inflationary factor, that is the principle that's been used for the 2012 request.

To say it's an inflationary factor not to exceed our revenue increase, that principle doesn't apply as directly in a rebasing year, as you can appreciate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.

Is there an equivalent memo that went out in relation to 2012?

MR. SIMPSON:  There isn't a specific memo similar to the one you're seeing here for 2012.  In a year where we're going through the rate application, the correspondence is more about the rate application process and having that completed.

The principles are similar, but there isn't a specific budget memo that has gone out for this year until the rate application process is further along.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm going to go back a year.

In relation to 2011 over 2010, would this principle have been met?  If I understand what you said, you've said if you were to substitute 2009 and 2010 for 2011 and 2012 what the caveats that you gave me, you're saying generally that it's met?

MR. SIMPSON:  Mm-hm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And now I'm going back to 2010 and 2011, because I think it's clear there's a much bigger increase between 2010 and 2011, in real terms.  So I'm wondering if this principle would have been met, from your point of view, in 2010 to 2011?

MR. SIMPSON:  For 2010 to 2011, notwithstanding the -- from a 2010 budget to a 2011 budget perspective, meaning reversing or backing back in the one-time occurrences that occurred in 2010 and will not recur, generally the principle has been met, that our OM&A increases for 2011 over the 2010 plan are inflationary, driven by collective bargaining, where 60 percent of our gross costs are labour, and supplemented, increased, related to new initiatives arising from key strategies such as the workforce planning and customer service.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Would there have been a similar memo in 2010 for the 2011?  I understand you had said not really for 2011 going to 2012.  And then you said, I think you said, it's basically because in large part it's a rate year application.

So anyway, your answer is what it was, but I'm asking the same question 2010 going to 2011; would there be a similar direction?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, we followed a similar process last year within 2010 for 2011, as we were going through a rate application.  So you won't see a specific memo driving the budget process coming out in June, but again, the principles that were applied in order to prepare the rate application were similar.

Once the rate application was deferred -- and again, we did look back in relation to the interrogatory -- there wasn't a specific memo that went out.  We were in a react mode at that point, and dealt with senior management and the executives specifically in order to put together the 2011 budget, based on these similar principles.

So our budget for 2011, as the revenues increased by IRM, which for us was 0.18 percent as an inflationary increase on the rates, so very small, essentially, our distribution revenue '10 to '11 was flat.  So we did see there had to be some inflationary increases with four percent as a total compensation envelope, some advancement of our new initiatives, and in fact, there was advancement of all the initiatives that we had put forward within our 2011 rate application.

We did proceed.  The executive decision was made that we would proceed with all of those, because they are key, and needed to happen in the environment we're in.

And in preparation for upcoming retirements on the trade side, et cetera, as is documented in the evidence.

So our 2011 budget did proceed essentially on the basis of the -- what was presented in the rate application last year, from a spending perspective.

Obviously, the funding for that is not -- has not been picked up as our rate application was deferred.  So our expectation, our budgeted expectation for bottom-line net income, in fact, came down for 2011.

And as I mentioned yesterday, our programs are on track.  Our spending is on track against the budget for '11, primarily because some of the one-time items from the past couple of years are now coming to fruition, such as time-of-use billing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

If I can summarize a particular point I think I'm picking up from there, from what you've said, it sounds like -- well, generally speaking, you had this type of memo going out during the IRM years or at least the anticipated IRM years, because you were able to predict an ex -- sorry. That's how long your answer was.  The computer turned off.  Sorry, I couldn't help myself.

[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  You were predicting a particular IRM increase, and you would give out this certain direction in terms of budgeting for 2010.

But in 2011, you were anticipating or at least attempting a rebasing year, and same thing for 2012, which means you didn't have this type of memo going out; you had other things going on, at sort of a very, very high level.  And you've talked about what those other things are.

MR. SIMPSON:  Generally at the high level, yes.  From a budget process perspective, in a year where we're preparing a rate application, it tends to dwarf the budget process early in the year, with submission of the rate application in the spring.  That becomes the basis for the budget for the subsequent year, subject to final approval.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Hopefully very quickly, I'm going through K4, Issue 4.4, IR No. 26, and this time over the page.

We asked about incentives, and we noted here in 2010, I believe, the achieved incentive in 2010 for executives was 85 percent.  Do you see that?

I can flip back if you want to see the question.

This was intended to be one of those really quick references, just to get the 85 percent on the record.

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, I'm with you now.  Back to your question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm just confirming that in 2010, the executive incentives, I guess, on average was 85 percent of the maximum of 100 percent.  So you can achieve up to 100 percent, and then in 2010 in particular, executives achieved 85 percent of their maximum incentives.  That's what I understood from this response.

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And then at Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 7, we have the actual amounts paid or the average annual incentive pay, and you can see here on table 6 for executive senior management, there is a bit of a spike in 2010 and then it goes back down to about 35,000 in 2011, so a spike to over 40,000 in 2010 and down to 35,000 or so in 2011.  Do you see that?

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  My question is this:  What we're seeing here, it appears to be, is a spike in incentive for executives on 85 percent of maximum achievable on the one measure, and then the actual dollar values on the other, and we wanted to know two things: what caused the spike in 2010, and then what caused it to go back down again in 2011?  What was the major driver or drivers for that result?

MR. SIMPSON:  Specific to the drivers -- I may have to take away, again -- the process is related to reviewing the suite of corporate measures and coming to a corporate standard for those.  And then within each of the executives that would fall under this grouping, there are personal incentive deliverables.

So for each one of them, there will be a different factor as to whether they've achieved what it is they had been targeted to achieve during the year.

So it would be very difficult to go through each one of those one by one.  As you'll see overall from the interrogatory you pointed us to, at the executive level there was 80 percent achievement in 2009, and 85 percent in 2010.  Whether that's driven more by corporate incentives or personal incentives, I don't know and I don't know that I could find, but obviously there was, at the executive level, an improvement, which would explain, I believe, notionally explain the difference between '09 actual and '10 actual.

As to our budgeting for '11, again, we're into the comparison of an actual versus a budget.  You know, our budget for the attainment in 2011 ties to the $665,000, I believe it is, that you referenced earlier.  And an assumption likely -- well, I'm not sure exactly what our assumption, offhand, is related to achievement as a percentage, but that would be where the budget dollar comes from.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So perhaps I can ask this.

I understand what you're saying.  In terms of the actual incentives and what caused the incentives to go up, there may be sort of generic reasons, but there also may be reasons specific to the employees?

MR. SIMPSON:  Specific to one of the executives.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To drive the numbers.

MR. SIMPSON:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I would ask you to do -- I'm not going to ask you to look at the -- I'm looking at your headcounts just to see how many are in each category.  And under "Executives" you have --


MR. SIMPSON:  Very few.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- between six and five different profiles, presumably?

MR. SIMPSON:  It's a small population, correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if we're looking at the table I have on the screen, "Senior management" would presumably pull in a number of the people in the "Management" category, which itself has a hundred people; right?  I'm assuming, unless you mean by "Executive senior management" just the executives?

MR. BENNETT:  Just the executive.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So we're really talking about five or six people -- well, actually in 2010 we're talking about six profiles.

So what I wanted to ask is if you could look at the six profiles and see if there is a reason why the incentives spiked in 2010, it appears, and then why it came back down in 2011.

I had assumed, when it says executive senior management, that it was pulling in something more than just the six executives for 2010, but if it's only the six, I'm happy with the six, and I'm not going to ask you to go through the 100 -- 106 score cards.  I'm more interested at a high level, in which case I'm really looking at the executives.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.  No, I wanted just to confirm that it was just the six, and it appears it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  So within that -- I mean, this is an average.  So within the six, between '09 and '10, some population of that six did better.  Maybe all, maybe one.  We don't know offhand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'd like to take that as an undertaking.  And, presumably, in all your other cost categories, you've described drivers of increases even though they're very complex.  What I'm saying is look at the six management and see what drove the increase in the average incentive between 2009 and 2010, and then why it dropped off again in 2010 and 2011.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, the six executives?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. SCOTT:  You said management; okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  So just to be clear on what we're going back for, that would be:  Is it driven by the corporate pool or the personal deliverable?  You're not looking for specific personal deliverables, are you?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't need to know why a particular executive made a particularly high bonus.  I'm just looking for reasons, general reasons.  Is it because we did really well in a particular category and that affected everybody?  I'm just looking for the reason for the spike, what I've referred to as a spike.

MR. SIMPSON:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, just for clarity, and to assist Mr. Simpson, as well, the $40,000 that you've highlighted in 2010 is an actual number.  The 34,000 bridge, is that now actual or is that still a budget number?

MR. SIMPSON:  Anything related to the 2011 bridge is a budget number.  It's not an actual number.  These are incentive pay that are budgeted for and paid out once per year; right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So you have to --


MR. SIMPSON:  And these are most notable with the small population of just the six, and that line is their averages, right, in this table.

MS. HARE:  And I just want to repeat what Mr. Buonaguro said.  Keep it at the general and aggregate level.  We don't want to get into issues with Freedom of Information and Privacy Act.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  That was part of my concern.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  I'm just waiting for that to be given an undertaking number, and then I wanted to make a comment, if I may.

MS. HELT:  No, I was just waiting for the undertaking to be clear.  That will be Undertaking L2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.3:  TO PROVIDE REASONS FOR SIX EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE BONUSES.

MR. CASS:  I was waiting for the undertaking number, just to be clear.  I'm not in any way objecting to the question.  Hydro Ottawa, of course, is here to answer questions and provide as much useful information as possible.

I just wanted to stress that in hearing a number of these undertakings that have been given, some of the more recent ones and even earlier in the hearing, these are things that could have been asked earlier in this proceeding.  We had an extensive round of interrogatories.

Following the vast number of interrogatory answers that were provided, there was a very detailed technical conference.  It certainly escapes me why these questions could not have been asked at an earlier stage and undertakings given, for example, at the technical conference.

Again, I'm not objecting in any fashion.  I think Hydro Ottawa wants to give the best information it can.  It just strikes me that these are things that could have been pursued at a much earlier time.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, since he's not objecting...

MS. HARE:  I don't think you need to answer that, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  And I might say, Mr. Cass, we hear that in almost every case, and I think the long and the short of it is that as the information becomes available and as people look at further information and further information, other questions occur to them.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Moving on, if I recollect correctly, there were some questions yesterday about the 17 employees that were moved, or at least some of the answers had to do with the 17 employees that were moved from the holding company -- or from the affiliate, I'll call it -- to the company.  Do you recall that?

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And I think there's an outstanding undertaking.  I just want to make sure I'm not duplicating here.  I'm going to pull up number 17 -- sorry, my cite number 17.  This is Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment AC.  I think Mr. Aiken took you through this.

MS. HELT:  There is an undertaking to reconcile the FTE numbers with the table 4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I'm going to turn to -- table 4 of which?

MS. HELT:  It's in the Energy Probe compendium, page 43 of 43.  The exhibit is D1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 10, which was the OM&A cost per customer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.

MS. HELT:  So it was undertaking L1.8.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I have a different question.

MS. HELT:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sort of at a high level, the 17 employees who moved in -- and I have a couple of references for how they're described in the evidence.

So at D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, you talk about the movement of the employees, those 17 employees.  And then at A1, tab 7, schedule 4, page 2, you actually list their positions.  I don't need to go through that detail right now, but that's just the reference.

I was wondering if you could tell me, first, on this table where those 17 live, because now they have been added -- my understanding is they've simply been added to the 2010 test year column; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  On this table, because this table attachment AC is specific to compensation costs and FTEs, the transfer of the 17 staff, it's not a net increase to the consolidated company as a whole, nor is it a net increase to the costs in Hydro Ottawa Limited specifically.

It is an increase in compensation costs.  It is an increase in FTEs, which will come out in this schedule.  But as they are transfers from the holding company to Hydro Ottawa Limited, that is fully netted out within the allocations and the service level agreements.  So it's a $2.6 million compensation movement.

There's another $100,000 worth of OM&A that moves with that.  So on this table, you'll see 17 FTEs increase from '11 to '12, towards the top of the page.  Part of that increase is 17 FTEs just moving within the organization.

But it looks like a net increase here from the 557 to the 598.  That's -- part of that is 17.  And on the total compensation dollars, those are now shown directly as compensation in Hydro Ottawa Limited, where in 2011 they're shown within the holding company, and then allocated through the SLA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So could I ask you two things just to help us out, just to make sure that when we look at this table, we're looking at it in the right way?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you update this table and take them out, take those people out, and then their compensation and benefits, and such?  And then the second part of that is to put them back in to Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 12, which is a summary of the holding company services, because what I understand you to be saying is that whatever money related to these 17 employees that shows up in 2012 on the previous table came from the 2012 budget on the table I'm showing now, the table 4 holding company services and costs from 2008 to 2012?

So I'm asking if you can put them back so that I can see in the different categories how the costs compare in 2012 versus the previous years.

MR. SIMPSON:  We can do that in both cases.  So you want to see, of the 17, where they fit into the table 4 --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  -- average costs?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So when I'm looking at these two tables, I'm looking at them without having to worry about the transfer between the holding company and the utility.

MS. SCOTT:  So as if we do not do the transfer?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, because if I understand what you're saying, you did it on a net zero basis, so it's just moving them.  But I don't know exactly where they were on each table, so I need you to do that for me.

MR. SIMPSON:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  That would be undertaking L2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.4:  TO PROVIDE UPDATE OF D1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 2 TAKE OUT 17 EMPLOYEES FROM TABLE AND PUT THEM BACK INTO EXHIBIT D1, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 12; to ADVISE TOTAL EMPLOYEES AT THE UTILITY

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you tell me, just as a matter of scale -- I know how many employees total you have in the utility.  I can't tell on this table 4 at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 12, how many employees this represents, the services offered.  Do you have that information?  Like, it's 17 on top of how many in 2012?

We can put that in the undertaking, and then if you have the information, you can think about it.

MR. SIMPSON:  I think we should put that in the undertaking.  I don't have it at my fingertips, and since the undertaking is live, I won't take a guess at it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Moving on, and I believe this should be brief, at Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4, there is what appears to be a spike in the 2011 and 2012 overtime pay, from approximately 1.9 million to almost 2.5 million.

And we couldn't find an explanation for that in the evidence.  If there is one, you can just point me to the reference, but if not, if you could provide an explanation for why that happened.

MR. SIMPSON:  There may not be a specific explanation in the -- that I can reference.  I think I can give you the high-level answer on what is about a $500,000 increase.

Again, that would fall to the 2010 being an actual experience versus the 2011 being our budgeted number.  I believe we underspent our overtime in 2010.  I don't believe there's a significant move in our budget expectation for '11 as far as overtime.  I can tell you these costs are up in 2011, related to storm damage in the city and some other items along those lines.

So I believe the explanation there is simply that the overtime budget in 2010 wasn't fully spent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, so what was the 2010 budget amount?  And we have 1.9 million as the actual, so I'm looking for what the budgeted amount would have been.

MR. SIMPSON:  With a moment, I think we may have that in an interrogatory.  I just have to find it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If it's not something you can do quickly, we can add it later.  You can do it by way of undertaking, or you can do it on the break or something.

I just need the number.  I don't need to ask you questions about it.

MR. SIMPSON:  I think maybe the break is the best answer, then.  I think it is here in the evidence.  It's just a matter of putting my fingers on it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.

Now, there were a few different places where you were asked to provide up-to-date numbers for 2011, and I believe in each case the most recent evidence on up-to-date numbers -- and this is, for example, Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, IR No. 22.  You provide up to up to OM&A figures, which are, I believe, to June 30th, 2011?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could I actually get the -- is there a more up-to-date number?  I understand in your opening you said you're on track, or something to that effect.  I can't remember exactly what you said.

But it would be useful to us if we could get the more recent up-to-date, so if you had June 30th before, presumably you have something in the order of September 30 or so available?

MR. SIMPSON:  We do, and the trends are similar.  I can, of course, make that point for you.

We're reporting our Q3 numbers to our board pretty much as we speak, which would give you the September information.  It's at our audit committee today, in fact, and then off to our board next week.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So can I get it as an undertaking?

MR. CASS:  Well, I think the concern you're hearing, Mr. Buonaguro -- through you, Madam Chair –- is that it's just at the audit committee today and going to the board next week.

MR. SIMPSON:  Next Thursday.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So then it would be unaudited information, and we would take it as such, I think.

MS. HARE:  But I think the concern is releasing numbers that haven't gone to the board and been approved by their board.  And is the answer not good enough that Mr. Simpson gave, that it's tracking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Let me just, then, understand what he means by "tracking".

Could you be a little bit more precise when you say "tracking"?  Because the -- I think there was some variance, certainly on a category-by-category basis, in the June figures for 2011 versus 2010, and then an overall variance. 

And what do you mean by "tracking" in terms of scale?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, tracking in the sense that there is two different interrogatories where we provided information related to June.

One was as a comparison for the year-to-date, the six months year-to-date as compared to 2010, and the other was a six-month year-to-date as compared to our 2011 budget.

So in the 2010 comparison, which I see is now up on screen, at the bottom-line level, if you could flip to that, you'll see there is about a $3.6 or 3.7 million increase from '10 to '11, as would be expected related to collective bargaining increases, inflation and some new programs.

As far as tracking, I was more referring to our 2011 versus budget situation, which is in the other interrogatory that you've now, I believe, got on screen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm very fast.

MR. SIMPSON:  You're very good.  I'll give you that.

And again, I was speaking to the bottom line, where from a spending compared to budget perspective.  In fact, the one you've called up, there is one that compares our 2010 year-to-date -- sorry, 2011 year-to-date as at June to our 2011 budget year-to-date as at June.  But either way, within this one, I believe you'll see the numbers are that essentially we're 50 percent spent as at the end of June.

Where we do the comparison to our year-to-date budget, which is somewhat calendarized, as I mentioned yesterday, we were 97 percent spent, so essentially on budget for 2011.

And when I say that has continued, that essentially is the trend that continues through our Q3 reporting, that we are very close on our OM&A spending to the budget expectation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to make sure I understand that when you say 97 percent, you mean 97 percent at the particular time relative to what you had planned to spend by this same time of the year?

MR. SIMPSON:  As at Q2, that's right.  Just let me find that reference and maybe we could call it up.  I believe it's Energy Probe Interrogatory 2, K1-2-2.  And these are Q2 numbers, as you mentioned.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, do you have the -- there's different ways of referring to the -- for example, this is K4, Issue 4.1, Interrogatory 22.

MR. SIMPSON:  So that would be K1, Issue 2, Interrogatory 2, I believe.  I can call it up here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Interrogatory No. -- I've got K...

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.  Exhibit K1, Issue 1.2, Interrogatory 2.  Sorry.  I just got the hard copy here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Aha.  It's one that was answered later.  That's all right.

MR. SIMPSON:  So in this interrogatory, it asked for our 2011 spend versus our 2011 budget.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  The one you had previously was against the full-year budget.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SIMPSON:  Similar answer, but essentially, if you call -- if you refer to page 3, if you are in that?

MS. SCOTT:  Yeah, you should be on Interrogatory No. 2.

MR. SIMPSON:  Interrogatory No. 2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  yeah.  You'll see there it skips from Interrogatory No. 1 to Interrogatory No. 3.

MS. SCOTT:  It was in the other filing, yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it was filed separately, so I don't have it embedded in this document.  But that's okay.  I think you've described it well enough that I can find it myself.  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  So the spending at 97 percent of budget is the trend that I'm indicating has essentially continued.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

And I believe lastly -- which would put me almost dead on my hour-long updated, updated, updated projection -- at Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 2, page 9, which I'll pull up, this is the as-filed regulatory cost schedule.  And I've highlighted the as-filed $1,298,157 total budget.  Do you see that, for 2012?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there was an interrogatory that was asked at Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, IR ^No. 4.  This has a number of $1.48 million for the same -- I believe it's the same categories.  Do you see that?

MS. SCOTT:  I see that, yes.  What was the one on the other?

MR. BUONAGURO:  1.298.  I think the difference is it's broken down into more categories.  I'm just trying to figure out what the difference is between the two numbers.  Which one is the real number, quote-unquote?

MS. SCOTT:  The real number would be on table 3 in D1-1-2.  You could see in line -- if you go back to your other one?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. SCOTT:  In line 6, 202 should be just 20,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, so that's an error?

MS. SCOTT:  It's a typo, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm glad I asked.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you for pointing that out.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then actual last question, this is K4, 4.1, IR No. 10 -- sorry, this question.  The question had to do with regulatory costs again, and I've highlighted a particular section, which says:
"The cost for regulatory staff in 2012 is expected to be $1 million."

Then it goes on to talk about staff from other departments contributing to the preparation of rate cases.  And I got a little confused here.

If I go back to the table of costs here, can you take the $1 million and populate that throughout this table, or is that...

MS. SCOTT:  So the regulatory staff is not included in that table.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That's --


MS. SCOTT:  So you're asking for --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I wanted to see where the $1 million was, and I think what you're saying is the $1 million is in compensation?

MS. SCOTT:  That's right.  In other categories, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That helps.  Thanks.

And those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We'll take our morning break now and return at 11:20.

--- Recess taken at 10:58 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

I am advised, Mr. Rubenstein, you don't have any questions of this panel, so we'll move to Ms. Helt.

MR. CASS:  Pardon me, Madam Chair.  Sorry to interrupt.

MS. HARE:  Sorry.

MR. CASS:  I understand that Mr. Simpson has an answer to one of Mr. Buonaguro's questions that he said he would follow up on.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Sorry.

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.  It's related to overtime costs.  We were looking at -- I'm just going to find the exhibit again -- we were looking at our 2010 actuals versus 2011 bridge year plan.  Right.

So in Exhibit D3-1-1, table 2, so the question had been our 2010 actual overtime was 1.9 million, where our 2011 bridge budget was 2.44, and the question was:  What was our 2010 budget?  And I just got it in round terms, but it was 2.3 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, is that -- you're adding that to the record, or is that in the record somewhere and you're summarizing it?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, I don't believe it's in the record.  I thought it might have been under some of the USofAs, but they're not that detailed.  So it's not.  I'm adding it to the record.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Helt, please proceed.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt


MS. HELT:  Some of the Board Staff's questions relate to the questions that Mr. Buonaguro asked and they're in the nature of follow-up, and others are independent of that.  There are a couple of areas that we would like to cover.  The first deals with retirement forecast.

At page 57 of the Board Staff compendium -- and I'll just wait for Mr. Buonaguro to do his magic -- page 57, at lines 10 to 12, Hydro Ottawa notes that:

"The workforce planning model assumes that 75 percent of those eligible to retire will retire on their eligibility date or shortly thereafter."

There was also a discussion at the technical conference with respect to responses to interrogatories relating to this matter, and there were some, in Board Staff's view, conflicting retirement statistics.

Hydro Ottawa did file Exhibit MT1.10 at the technical conference, which addressed some of these inconsistencies between the responses, and that was noted in the technical conference transcript.

At page 58 of the compendium, there is some information with respect to those eligible for retirement in the year and the cumulative number in the year, to include those who are eligible in prior years but who have not retired.

So if we just look at -- on page 58 of the compendium, and at the period 2008 to 2011, can you confirm that there were 64 staff eligible to retire, which would be the 57 total and seven from the prior period?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah, sorry.  That's confirmed.  And that was a year-to-date at the time we were talking about it, but yes.

MS. HELT:  And then again from the period 2008-2011, there are, in terms of actual retirement, 38, which would be the 35 total, and then the note at the bottom of the table notes that there are three additional staff who have provided notice to retire.

So would you confirm that there were 38 who have retired in that period?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MS. HELT:  So the retirement rate, if my calculation is correct, you would have 38 who have retired and 64 who are eligible to retire for the period 2008 to 2011, and that, subject to check, equals 59 percent for that period.  Would you agree?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And then if we look at 2011 alone, the eligible cumulative is 37 and the actual and projected retirements are 11, which is the eight plus the three.  So that retirement rate would be 30 percent?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, I think there's two points on that.  We can update the 2011 number.  I believe there's four more since the time this was reported who have declared.  But beyond that, the eligible -- the purpose of this table, as opposed to the original interrogatory responses that were given, is that it's a comparison over a period of time; right?

So to compare the actual retirements on this page of eight and 11 to the 37 cumulative is not really an apples-to-apples comparison.  Because of the eight that have retired, as it's noted there, two became eligible in '11, five in '10, and one in '08.

MS. HELT:  What I'm really trying to get at is on page 57, where it states that the workforce planning model assumes a 75 percent retirement rate, is that really reasonable, based on the numbers that we've just gone through?

MR. SIMPSON:  Mm-hmm.  Well, I think -- I think it is, as an estimate.  I think the numbers you took us through earlier, which I do concur with, demonstrate 59, 60 percent have retired over this period.

We do need -- we have seen, as is in the evidence, our average age of retirement from when we filed last year to this year has come down a year, from 57 to 56.  So we are seeing retirements happen a little earlier.

And really, the point of the 75 percent as a planning tool in the workforce strategy going forward is that, you know, we need to be -- if we're a little bit conservative on the estimate, if you want to put it that way, you know, we need to be ready specifically on the trades and apprentices side with the five-year ramp-up for these gentlemen -- or these people to become journeymen.

You know, as the workforce strategy exhibit indicates, the bubble on those retirements is coming, '15, '16 and beyond.  We do need to start hiring.  We have started hiring.  We need to continue to do so in order to be ready for that bubble of retirements that is coming.

Whether it happens specifically within the six months, 75 percent at six months or not, we really do need to be ready for that.  And we do believe it's a reasonable estimate.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

Next, I will move into some questions with respect to overtime.

At Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment AC, which is found at page 59 of Board Staff's compendium -- and we've already looked at this table -- it's a summary of the employee compensation breakdown, and there is a section that deals with compensation, average yearly overtime, which is about two-thirds of the way down the page.

And I'd just like to have you confirm that the table does show that the Union average yearly overtime for the test year 2012 is 6,025; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  And if we could go to page 60 of Board Staff's compendium -- and we've also looked at this Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, page 7 of 9 -- for 2012, it notes that the average annual overtime is 5,923.

MR. SIMPSON:  Mm-hmm.

MS. HELT:  And I'm just trying to understand why there's a difference with these two numbers.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yeah.  No, you've caught an issue there, one I hadn't realized.

So on attachment AC, this 6,025 for 2012 is not correct; it should be updated.

Our budgeting, if you refer to, in the same document, the one I was just referring to earlier, our 2000 -- table 2, for example, the total compensation does show our union overtime budget at 2,444,738, table 2 on page 4.

MS. HELT:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  So, essentially, we've kept our overtime budget flat from '11 to '12.  So from an average perspective, what you've got in table 5 is correct, where it's the -- the base is the same budget, but any increase in staff affect the average and bring it down slightly.

So what's in attachment AC needs to be updated.

MS. HELT:  So you will undertake to provide an updated attachment AC?

MR. SIMPSON:  We can provide the updated document.  The number that you will see there is the one that's in table 5, or the 2012 average will be 5,923.

MS. HELT:  All right, then that's fine.  We don't need an undertaking with respect to that.

Now, that answer you just provided may help me with respect to the next questions I have prepared, and I would just like to take you through them.

Based on the numbers that are in attachment AC, Staff did calculate the estimated total overtime dollars, assuming the full-time employee numbers and the average yearly overtime dollars.  And our calculations are different than that in Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1.  And I'd just like to run through an example.

So for 2012, based on the compensation -- or overtime of 6,025 times the 425 employees, we calculated an amount of 200,562,071; whereas in the Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, it's approximately 2.44 million.

So I take it, if we did use the 5,923, which you say should be in attachment AC, then we would arrive at the same number that's in Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1?

Well, if I can just --


MR. SIMPSON:  No, just a moment.

MS. HELT:  Sure.

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, just running some quick math here, we can get very close.  The -- I think that the difference is going to become -- so what I've just done, for the record, is attachment AC has 425 FTEs --


MS. HELT:  Correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  -- in 2012, plus full-time FTEs or full-time employees.  We have the equivalent of five FTEs in the temporary bucket, which would be 430 FTEs.  So if we take our overtime budget, I get to 5,685.  I don't get exactly back to the 2012 test year number at 5,923.  I get very close.

And I believe the calculation may be the difference between, where attachment AC is showing FTEs, which factor in part-years and vacancy allowance, and what have you, versus an actual headcount-type analysis, which is I believe what you have in table 5 of the exhibit.

So it's close, and I'm quite sure the difference is based on head count versus FTE.

MS. HELT:  If I can just have a moment, please.

Given the numbers that are in attachment AC, Board Staff, as I've stated previously, did calculate some numbers showing that there is a decrease over the years between 2009 through to 2011 with respect to the overtime, and then an increase in 2012.

And so I would ask that you undertake to provide a calculation of the percentage increase or decrease of the overtime, taking the average yearly overtime and the number of Union full-time employees, for the period 2010 to 2012.

MR. SIMPSON:  We can certainly take the undertaking.  I just, again, want to be clear on what the deliverable or the outcome will be.  Are you looking for a comparison of average overtime as opposed to actual overtime?

MS. HELT:  Total overtime.

MR. SIMPSON:  Total overtime?  So I believe that's in the exhibit already, as far as actual spending up to 2010 and budgets for '11 and '12.

MS. HELT:  But what we would like to have is based on the numbers, the accurate numbers, in attachment AC.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, Ms. Helt, are you asking for 2012?

MS. HELT:  2010, 2011, 2012.

MS. HARE:  And do you think that level of detail is required?

MS. HELT:  Well, really what Board Staff is interested in is directionally whether or not, based on the Board Staff calculation and the numbers that are provided in attachment AC, there was a decrease through the years 2010 over 2009 and 2011 over 2010, and then an increase in 2012.  And we're just trying to better understand why there is the increase in 2012.

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't... I'm struggling with following the math on that one.  But with our numbers in either table 5, which is average annual overtime and does have the correct number for 20012 test on an average basis at 5,923, or our total overtime budgeting, which is in table 2 and was discussed earlier, there is an increase from '10 actual to '11 budget on total overtime, and then we've kept that flat through '12.

And on the average basis, as there is additional staff added at the union level and there is some in '11 and '12, the averages will fall, as they do in table 5.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  All right, thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  There's no undertaking?

MS. HELT:  No.  I was just trying to understand, and I think you've provided some of the rationale, for the increase in total overtime in the application based on the trend in the previous two years for -- to lower -- which was to lower the overtime.

Next I'd like to move on to management compensation, again, Exhibit D3, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment AC.  Staff has calculated the yearly increases in average base wages for each employee group using the data in the "Compensation - Average Yearly Base Wages" row.  So if we can go to that?

So if we look at the 2012 increase for union staff, it's 2.9 percent higher than in 2011.  And my understanding is the base wages for the union staff are based on the collective agreement.

The base wages for executive increase is approximately four percent, for management increase it's 4.4 percent, and non-union increase it's 6.1 percent.

So what I would like to -- if you could please explain the base wage increases in the test year for the non-union groups.

MR. SIMPSON:  And your starting point here is from attachment AC, is it?

MS. HELT:  That's correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  So you're just looking to reconcile the executive, management and non-union compensation increases?

MS. HELT:  Correct.  Base wage.

MR. SIMPSON:  So just before I get it into, are we referencing total compensation or averages?  Because it may change the answer.

MS. HELT:  The average.

MR. SIMPSON:  Okay.  Well, if we refer to our workforce -- there's two parts to that answer, and the first one I would take you to is by referencing our workforce strategy.

So total compensation at the management level and non-union level will be increased by the proposed and planned increase in staff that's in our workforce strategy, which I seem to be struggling to put my hands on.

If anybody wants to throw me the reference, that would be great.  It's here somewhere.  Here we are.  In D1-5-1.

So you see the workforce strategy -- I guess probably best to begin at page 12 -- refers to positions added for strategic priority-type positions.  Primarily, these are non-union staff, if you look at the 2011 positions added, manager of training, manager of safety and -- occupational health and safety, environmental and business continuity specialist and two management accountants in the regulatory area and in the finance area.  So those are five new positions, 2.5 new FTEs.

There are plans for more on the following page for 2012, four positions listed there.

And then to the next page, there are planned increases, both that have occurred in '11 and in '12, for similar-type positions.

Very few, as I look, if any, of those -- there may be some -- I don't have it as my fingertips -- there may be some of those in the union, but for the most part those are non-union-level positions.

So we do have increases in the plans for regulated and business environment positions and to support some of our strategic priorities.

And then back to attachment A -- so there is an increase in total comp at those levels, not just related to, as I've mentioned before, the four percent overall base increase, but new staff coming in.

The other twist in this numbers, as you'll see them in attachment AC is for 2011-2012, as I mentioned earlier, we have changed our budgeting practice in 2011 for the first time, in a couple of ways.

One is that we budget new positions only part-year, for the most part half-year, because that tends to be our reality as to how quickly we staff.

So in 2012, you're picking up the full-year impact or the additional half-year for those positions that have been hired in '11, and also picking up the part-year impact for '12.  So again, feeding to the increase.

And then the other key point, and perhaps as important as any, as mentioned earlier, is there's the transfer on the compensation side of 17 staff from the holding company.  And those all fall into the management and non-union category.

So that's 2.6 million dollars or 17 FTEs straight across from '11 to '12 to the compensation dollars, and the FTEs, not a net increase, as I mentioned earlier and I believe we've got an undertaking on, but certainly an increase in the compensation levels and FTEs for the management and non-union group.

MS. HELT:  And that's very helpful for the total compensation.

And could you provide a similar explanation with respect to the compensation for the average yearly base wage per person for these particular groups?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sure.  I may just check some numbers.

So average yearly base wage from attachment AC for management, for example, 102,612 versus 98,252 in '11; correct?

MS. HELT:  Correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  It represents about a 4.5 percent increase, which would pick up base compensation increases plus some growth, as I've indicated, part-year for next year, and picking up the full-year effect from this year.

So a little greater than four percent.

MS. HELT:  And then for non-union?

MR. SIMPSON:  Want me to run the same math?

So 2012 at average -- yeah, there's some danger in working with the averages here, but if we do, average at 76,747.

MS. HELT:  Correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  Okay.  Compared to 2011 at 72,303.

That represents about a six percent increase.  I think that's what you quoted earlier?

MS. HELT:  Right.  Correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  So again, picking up on average a four percent increase, plus some additional staff added over the period.  So that drives it up another two percent, it would appear.

MS. HELT:  And then if we applied the same math with respect to the executive class, subject to check, it would be approximately a four percent increase?

MR. SIMPSON:  Subject to my checking right now, you mean?

MS. HELT:  If you would like, sure.

MR. SIMPSON:  Represents about a four percent^ increase, '11 to '12.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  So there's no -- in the executive grouping, there is no change in the executive grouping from '11 to '12.

So all you're seeing there is the total compensation envelope increase of four percent.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.

Just one last area, and actually, I only have one question, with respect to the OM&A cost drivers.

Mr. Buonaguro referred to this same document, Exhibit D1, schedule 1 -- or tab 1, schedule 2, page 3.

And again, looking at the "Other compensation" line, which is already highlighted in the OM&A cost driver table, there is an increase of 1.5 million in both 2011 and 2012.

The explanation that's provided for this on pages 4 and 5 of that exhibit notes that the benefits increase 15 percent in 2011 and 10 percent in 2012, and the OMERS pension -- I believe you already stated this on the record -- increased 31 percent in 2011 and 12 percent in 2012.

So my question is simply:  If the increases in 2011 were more substantial, why is the 1.5 million for other compensation reflected in both 2011 and 2012?

MR. SIMPSON:  There is a -- I believe there's an interrogatory on this that, if I can just take a minute and put my hands on, it might assist with the explanation.

Some of the... while I look... just a moment, please.  Again, while I look - and I hope I can put my hands on it - some of the benefit increases that were negotiated with our collective bargaining agreement just updated this past year have a ramp-up, if you want to call it that.  And I believe there's an interrogatory that points that out.

So while some of the non-pension benefits do see increases in '11, they in fact see greater increases projected for '12.  So, in total, at the 1.5 million envelope between pension and other benefits, they stay about the same.

MS. HELT:  If you would like, you could provide that interrogatory response number after the lunch break, if that's easier for you.

MR. SIMPSON:  I guess that will be easier rather than waiting.  I just have to put my fingers on it.  There's a number of different compensation interrogatories and I'm not finding the one I'm referencing, but I know it's here.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. SIMPSON:  We'll find it at the break.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Board Staff has no further questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cass, do you want to do re-direct on OM&A?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I have just two areas, Madam Chair.  Thank you.
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass

MR. CASS:  Both of these areas of questions go back, actually, to Mr. Warren's cross-examination yesterday.

Panel, Mr. Warren asked some questions about Exhibit K4, Issue 4.1, Interrogatory No. 4.  This was the chart of regulatory cost categories at page 2 of the evidence item I've referenced.

I believe he asked specifically about lines 5, 6 and 11 of this table.  My question is simply whether any of the witnesses can address line 1, that being the OEB annual assessment, and provide any comment on the numbers that appear in line 1.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  That's the budget for the OEB annual assessment at 775K.  We have already received invoices from the OEB in excess of 900K for 2011.  So, in fact, that budget for 2012 is probably underestimated.

MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.

And then just one -- sorry?

MS. SCOTT:  No, that's just -- Bill was pointing out that that's also the table that will be updated to reflect the typographical error.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Then my other area, I'm not sure whether you, Ms. Scott, or any of the witnesses would be equipped to answer this.  But Mr. Warren was talking to you yesterday about benefits from incentive regulation, and he went through the years 2008 right through to 2012.

What I'm wondering whether you have the information to address would be just to comment on rate impacts that ratepayers have seen over that general time period that Mr. Warren was talking about.

Do you have the information available to address that in any fashion?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, I can address the impact of the increase in distribution rates, specifically, and that would be based on the IPI minus X.  So for a typical residential customer in 2009, we are looking at 1.1 percent, and then '10 and '11 were both 0.1 reflect reflecting what the IPI minus X was at that time.

MR. CASS:  And then carrying that forward to 2012, do you know what that would be?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, based on the current evidence, it's 13.5 percent for just the distribution.  Total bill is something different.

MR. CASS:  What about total bill?

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, total bill for a typical residential customer, at the current time, is something slightly less than 0.49 percent, because of the adjustments in the settlement, but subject to what is decided with OM&A.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, I want to make sure I got that.  You said 0.49 percent?

MS. SCOTT:  0.49 percent on total bill.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Cass, do you have examination-in-chief of these witnesses now on our last topic, the modified international financial reporting?

MR. CASS:  I do, yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Please proceed.

And I understand all four witnesses are still required?  Yes?

MR. CASS:  I'm just not sure about Mr. Grue.  Maybe the witnesses can help me.

MS. SCOTT:  He'll stay.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.
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MR. CASS:  To start with, panel, I wonder if you could provide just an overview of the process that Hydro Ottawa went through for its conversion to IFRS.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.  As likely everyone in the room knows, the IFRS conversion process has been a long and somewhat drawn-out process.  So the IFRS conversion project specific to Hydro Ottawa officially started in 2008.  And at that time, we enlisted our project partners, who we've been working with since, which was Ernst & Young.  And that process has continued through today, obviously.  So it's been about a three-year process to date.

We learned very early from our own research, and from our guidance from our project partners in Ernst & Young, one of the major areas of change where we had to dedicate a lot of time and effort was to our property, plant and equipment.  And as is documented in some of the evidence and also in some of the compendiums that have come forward, IAS 16 - and I'll just paraphrase here, but it is quoted in some of the evidence and in the compendiums even - has required us to analyze our fixed asset ledgers for significant components within that can be separated based on divergent useful lives and replacement schedules, and, to some degree, materiality.

So specifically IAS 16 requires that each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, be depreciated separately.  And this is paraphrasing, not quoting.

This requirement is more stringent that what we had in Canadian GAAP, and IAS 16 also requires that entities perform a review of the components and the service lives, useful lives, depreciation methods and residual values on an annual basis.

So in 2009, we struck a core committee for our project, with representatives from operations, engineering, finance, IT, treasury, regulatory, and our project partners from Ernst & Young.  In fact, it includes everybody on this panel and some of their direct reports.

So as I mentioned, one of the first steps and one of the heavy lifting pieces was to review our fixed assets components under current GAAP, and determine components and useful lives.

So the components have been through several internal reviews, discussed with our industry colleagues, reviewed by Ernst & Young project partners, and finally, they've now been audited as part of our January 1, 2011 opening balance sheet audit, which has just been completed.

And in fact, Ernst & Young is reporting to our audit committee on that as our audit firm, not as our project partners, this morning, or today.

So that covers the components piece.  As to the service lives related to those components, it's a similar process, developed in the same manner, with the expertise of the same committee and our same project partners.  They were developed through discussions amongst the engineers, based on their experience and professional judgment, as well as reviewing the asset management practices, failed data of some of the components, and the lives were developed with local operating conditions in mind, weather, economic conditions.

So they're not simply the technical useful lives of the asset, but appropriate useful lives with consideration for our practices and our local conditions.

MR. CASS:  Now, Mr. Simpson, you've been discussing service lives of assets.  Did you use the Kinectrics report as part of your review?

MR. SIMPSON:  We did.  The Kinectrics report came out, or was even announced by the OEB that it would come out, after our internal process was well underway.

The OEB engaged Kinectrics to conduct a guideline for the industry as a whole.  Kinectrics selected six Ontario electricity distributors in preparation of their study.  Hydro One was -- or sorry, Hydro Ottawa, us, were one of those six.

We met with Kinectrics in March of 2010 and were asked to provide to them our technical useful lives, along with a rating of various factors that could impact the technical useful lives.  We did that.

On April 30 of 2010, the draft Kinectrics report was circulated, and we went to the effort of comparing our components and lives to the ranges provided in the Kinectrics report.  Minor changes were made at that point in comparison to the Kinectrics report.  No components were added as we compared to Kinectrics.  And any of our remaining variances from the Kinectrics report were considered or determined to be appropriate in our judgment, based on our differing conditions and practices.

We had no expectations that our components and useful lives would entirely match those of the Kinectrics report.  In fact, under the principles of IFRS, as I noted earlier, to determine useful lives based on the experience of each entity and to review each reporting period, the concept of prescribed rates is no longer applicable if the intention is to be compliant with IFRS.

So our comparison to Kinectrics and our documented rationale for our components and useful lives in their entirety is provided in the evidence.  It was in response to Interrogatory 79 from Board Staff, and provides our rationale and analysis.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Simpson.

Mr. Bennett, do you have any examples of these differences between Hydro Ottawa's service lives and Kinectrics' service lives?

MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  The -- I have a couple of examples that we could use.  Specifically if I look at the underground civil categories -- in Kinectrics' report, they have a variety of categories there, as Mr. Simpson was talking about.  It's based on looking at six utilities.

When you look at underground civil, Toronto would probably dominate that.  So we don't have necessarily all of the categories that are included there.

Our major categories would be underground duct bank, particularly concrete-encased duct bank, and manholes.

These infrastructure typically are in our downtown core area.  They're typically installed a metre below grade, below the road surface, so the travelled portion of the roadway.  So those structures take a significant amount of mechanical loading, if you like, from buses and vehicles in the downtown traffic.

The City of Ottawa -- I don't know if this is a bragging right or not -- is number one in Canada for the use of road salt.  And road salt, as we have found by experience, has significant detrimental effects to our infrastructure.  In fact, when I joined Ottawa Hydro in the early eighties, we were just starting to do underground wiring in the downtown area, and we were putting in below-grade distribution vaults, as we call them, which are basically a large manhole with electrical equipment in it, much like Toronto uses, although it's not a network system.  So we were just starting to put those in, and at this point, they're all out, because of salt contamination issues, et cetera.

So when we looked at our underground infrastructure, we looked at it from a commercial effective useful life.  We have no pre-1950s manholes still in our system.  Our early duct systems were clay tile and/or asbestos.  We have undertaken to remove all those at every opportunity.  And we found that removing or replacing our infrastructure during road reconstruction, major road reconstruction, is the most effective way for us to do it, and typically, that's within a 40-year window.

I haven't included in there the fact that the downtown continues to grow and we continue to add customers, and we obviously have to adjust our system as that happens, but that also has an impact on it.

So that's the underground infrastructure side from our point of view, which is less than the Kinectrics report would show.

Another one that we have looked at was transformers.  So in the Kinectrics report, they have three categories of transformers.

One of the categories -- which has the longest useful life, I believe -- is the station service transformers.  We don't have many station service transformers; we didn't include them in our discussion.

So we're talking about overhead distribution transformers and pad-mounted or underground distribution transformers.

We used a useful life of 30 years.  We based this on some of our own information.  So for example, pre--- early transformers, post-war transformers were heavy tanks of units that could probably last forever, there was enough steel in them to last forever, but not very efficient.

But the modern transformers, they've skinnied down the amount of metal in them, tried to make them more efficient, tried to match them much more closely to tolerance to the specs.  We try to install them, in a sense, much more closely to the load requirements.

If you look at the impacts on transformers, there's a variety of impacts.  One of them is loading.  So in Ottawa over the last 10 years, we've become a summer-peaking utility, so the loading, highest loading in those transformers is during the highest temperature period, which has the most detrimental effect on the longevity of the transformer.

We continue to add customers, and potentially load.  One of the big things that has been talked about is electric vehicles, the future of electric vehicles in our distribution system.

The other impact on transformers is mechanical impact.  So pad-mounted transformers, we install them on the median.  Unfortunately, that subjects them to snowploughs from the roadside and the sidewalk side, subjects them to salt, subjects them to vehicle, potentially, nicks and cuts and damages, which tend to rust.

And what we found is that remediating oil spills has become a very, very expensive proposition.  And so where many years ago we would have let a transformer run to failure, we are actively engaged in making sure they don't leak wherever possible.

And in fact, our statistics show that pre--- or, sorry, post-1970s transformers, 50 percent of them have been removed and are out of service by age 31.

So we're pretty comfortable that a 30-year life is a realistic life for a distribution transformer.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Bennett.  Did the conversion of this 2012 rate application to IFRS have any impact on selected components and service lives?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, it did not.  We received notification to convert this year's rate application to modified IFRS in March of this year.  Our componentization and depreciation analysis, along with essentially all of our IFRS project, was substantially completed at that time.

There were no changes made as a result of the requirement to convert the rate application.  And in fact, in the evidence, all of the attachments you see related to our comparison of our CGAAP components and lives due to IFRS, our documentation on how we selected our components and useful lives, and even our comparison, the Kinectrics report, those were all prepared as part of our IFRS conversion and audit evidence related to our IFRS conversion, and they have now become rate application evidence.

MR. CASS:  And then, finally, Mr. Simpson, you referred to working with Ernst & Young.  Has there been any outcome or finding from Ernst & Young in respect of what you've described?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, there has, and I'll just clarify for the record.  We've worked with Ernst & Young in two different capacities.  Ernst & Young has been our project partner on the IFRS project for three years now.  Ernst & Young is also our auditors.

So, yes, we've worked with Ernst & Young throughout the three-year process and taken their expertise in the principles of IFRS and how to convert.

And as far as our opening balance sheet audit, which was a January 1st, 2011 opening balance sheet audit, that is performed by Ernst & Young in audit capacity, of course.  That has now been completed, and, by quirk of timing, they are reporting to our audit committee today, as I mentioned.  I'm missing that meeting.

They had -- they are requesting no changes to our IFRS opening balance sheet, and they're reporting to our audit committee that with respect to our distribution asset components and service lives, based on the procedures we have performed and the audit evidence provided, the components and useful lives determined by management are reasonable.

MR. CASS:  That's the examination-in-chief of the panel, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Given what time it is, we will take our lunch break now, and when we come back, Mr. Shepherd, you'll start your cross-examination, if that's acceptable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine, Madam Chair.  I do want to raise one thing.  There's quite a lot of information in this direct evidence that I don't believe is in the application, and so I intend to speak with my friend at lunch, but I may have a complaint after lunch about hearing about it for the first time now.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  So we'll be back at 1:15.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:14 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:21 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to cross-examine?

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are, yes.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have three documents, which I think have been sent up to you?

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One is labelled:  "School Energy Coalition cross-examination materials, IFRS issues."

MS. HELT:  We can mark that as Exhibit M2.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. M2.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS, IFRS ISSUES."

MS. HARE:  The second is a document entitled:  "Components and estimated useful lives," a Hydro Ottawa document.

MS. HELT:  That will be marked M2.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. M2.2:  HYDRO OTTAWA DOCUMENT ENTITLED "COMPONENTS AND ESTIMATED USEFUL LIVES."

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then another one is marked -- it says at the top:  "Issue 3.4, change in accounting policy."

MS. HELT:  And that's Exhibit M2.3. 
EXHIBIT NO. M2.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ISSUE 3.4, CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY."

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry, I am interrupting again.  I neglected one small thing at the beginning.  I don't know whether Mr. Shepherd would prefer to proceed.

This goes back to the OM&A panel, and there was one small final follow-up item.  I thought maybe I'd catch it before Mr. Shepherd launches into cross.

There was an item for Mr. Simpson to follow up on from the previous panel.  I'm sorry for not speaking up quickly enough.

MS. HARE:  Please proceed.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.  Just a follow-up on the question related to benefit costs and how they increased over the period.

The interrogatory I had trouble putting my hands on is Exhibit K4, Issue 4.4, Interrogatory No. 6.  I won't speak to it in detail, but there is a table in that interrogatory response that shows the cumulative increases over '10, '11 and '12, and that they do ramp up, if you want to call it that.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Please proceed, Mr. Shepherd. 
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So witnesses, I think you know me.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm co-counsel with Mr. Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition, and my cross today is limited to two main issues arising out of the IFRS conversion.

The first is the useful lives of your assets, and just -- I'm going to get into the details, but just at a high level, your depreciation expense has gone down by $8 million, roughly, in the test year because of a change in your useful lives, and there's some other impacts on rate base and return, et cetera, as a result of that.

And the second is the change in the rule with respect to capitalization of overheads.  And again, simply, you've decreased the amount you've capitalized by just over $10 million, and that has an impact on OM&A, and it also has an impact on rate base and working capital, et cetera; right?^


MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then there's two minor issues.  One is relating to how you calculate contributions and grants, and the second -- as a result of the change in capitalization policy, and the other is your proposed gains and losses account.  And I'll get to those at the end, but they're minor things.

So let's start with the useful lives.  And so could you turn to page 6 of our materials?  And then, just --whenever I'm referring to "our materials" I'm referring to M2.1.  The other two documents will be -- will arise when they arise, and then they'll be done with.

Page 6 of our materials is an excerpt from the Accounting Procedures Handbook, Article 410.  And do you have that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, we do.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you look at page 6 at the bottom, where it says "Amortization methods," it describes at a very high level the basic CICA concept of amortization. 

And I take it you'll agree that that concept hasn't changed under IFRS; right?  The basic concept?

MR. SIMPSON:  As far as you're the different methods, no, they have not significantly changed.  Not changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you take a look on the next page, you see right at the bottom, in the last paragraph, you say -- the Board says it doesn't provide prescriptive guidance on how you amortize assets.

What it says is:  You had an old way of doing it.  If you want to change it, do an objective study and we'll look at it and decide whether it's okay to change.

Is that right?  Is that a fair statement of the rule?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's what's in this document, yes.  And this document is -- this is the Accounting Procedures Handbook.  This has not been updated yet for IFRS; correct?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and that's exactly my question, and that is:  In your view, has that changed?  That is, has the Board's policy on this changed?  When you prepared your application, did you assume that was still the policy or not?

MR. SIMPSON:  For purposes of conversion to modified IFRS?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't think now that that rule - that is, the Board doesn't prescribe the amortization rules, and you have to have an objective study to change them -- that doesn't apply anymore?

MR. SIMPSON:  The concept of the Board prescribing amortization rules, if you're -- as far as methods, I believe the Board could prescribe.  I'm not sure that they do.  I believe they have supported the concept of straight-line, as far as methodology.

The Board has moved away from prescribed service lives.  The concept of components didn't really exist before in the same context that it does now under IFRS, and the Board, to my knowledge, has been supporting IFRS compliance with regard to componentization and service lives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's leave aside componentization for a second, because that's a more difficult question that didn't exist before.

Just on service lives, though, doesn't this say that the handbook does not provide prescriptive guidance on useful lives?  Doesn't it say that?

MS. SCOTT:  It does say that, but it's our understanding that the Board does, under CGAAP, prescribe useful lives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what it says is that if you don't have an objective study, then you have to use the old rules; right?  Your past practice?

MS. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your past practice was, in fact, the MEA's table; right?  Of useful lives, which then was used by the Board when you became regulated; right?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that hasn't changed; right?  The Board hasn't changed its policy, has it?

MS. SCOTT:  Not -- they haven't changed the handbook, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but what I'm saying is IFRS hasn't changed this policy, has it?  Because it's still true that until you -- you have approved rates, and at some point you do a study and you have new rates; right?  That hasn't changed?  Or has it?

MR. SIMPSON:  That sounds correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just trying to get the groundwork here.

It goes on in the next page to talk about what you do if you change the rates.  I'm not going to go into that in detail, but I just want to ask sort of a general question.

Even under CGAAP, it was always your responsibility to ensure that you were using reasonable useful lives for your asset; right?  From an accounting point of view?  Leave regulatory aside for a second.  From an accounting point of view?

MR. SIMPSON:  From an accounting point of view, under CGAAP -- and we would have this conversation almost annually with our auditors -- the rates used were considered to be those deemed appropriate by the regulator.  And that was the basis for us continuing to use them under CGAAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So whether or not you thought they were correct, even if you had better evidence that they weren't correct, you still had to use them?

MR. SIMPSON:  If we had performed a study, as is mentioned in the handbook, the opportunity was there for us to update, to change, I guess, is the point of the handbook.

We used the rates as deemed appropriate by the regulator under CGAAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'll give you an example.  In 2010, Toronto Hydro did an external study; in fact, they used Kinectrics.  And that was actually in preparation for IFRS, as a lot of people were doing; right?

But once they realized that they had new numbers, even though they were still under CGAAP, they came to the Board and said, Well, we have new numbers now; we have to use them.  From an accounting point of view, now we have better evidence, we have to use them.

That's correct, isn't it?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not entirely familiar with the Toronto case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking about the principle, not the details of the Toronto case.  If you have an objective study that shows that the useful lives you're using is incorrect, then, under CGAAP, you were required to implement those instead of your previous ones; right?  That's the rule?  That was the rule.

MR. SIMPSON:  Oh, I think there's some interpretation to that.  There would be required discussions with our auditors, and we've had those, as we have had our first draft of our study now for, as I indicated earlier, almost two years.

We've had those discussions with our auditors, and they have been comfortable that until the transition to IFRS is official, that we continue to use our previous useful lives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, sorry, that wasn't my question.  I'm asking about what the rules were under CGAAP, because what I'm trying to get at is the rule hasn't changed.  The IFRS rule is not different from the CGAAP rule.  You use the best information you have for useful lives.  Is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  In the absence of rate regulation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's the catch, right, is that the Board's old policy was that you could do a study, but until the Board approved your new depreciation rates, they couldn't be used for regulatory purposes; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  But from an accounting point of view, you still should use your best evidence?

MR. SIMPSON:  You could and should.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me move now to the Board's policies under IFRS, and this starts at page 9.  You'll see, right at the bottom of page 9 -- this is the Board's 2009 report.  I'm going to come to the addendum later, but this is the 2009 report.  And you'll see at the bottom that Staff, Board Staff, proposed a depreciation study.

The next page, on page 10, the Board said, yes, that's a good idea.  We're going to do that.  Do you see that?

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  However, the Board also goes on to say that -- I've lost track of my place now -- that unless it adopts those new lives, you should still continue with your present service lives, unless you undertake your own study; right?  That's what the policy says?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then, in 2010, in July - and you'll see this on the next page - the Board released the Kinectrics study.  And I understand you were involved in that, right, the Board-sponsored Kinectrics study, a big fat document, and you were one of the utilities that provided information?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Kinectrics is a well-known firm with expertise in the area of depreciation rates, right, and asset management and things like that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what the Board said in this letter is that the Board is no longer going to prescribe service lives for PP&E.  That is, the list that was the old MEA list no longer applies; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  In compliance with IFRS, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's your job to make sure that you're IFRS-compliant going forward; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And on page 12 the Board says -- and I want to read this, because it's a little tricky to understand unless we look at it carefully.  This is in the third paragraph:
"When appearing before the Board in future cost of service proceedings after the initial IFRS cost of service proceeding, distributors will be expected to provide update information to the Board regarding the useful lives of their assets along with justification for any changes."


And that's what you've done in this proceeding; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But here's the problem.  This is not a future cost of service proceeding after your initial IFRS cost of service proceeding, is it?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  But in March of this year, we were advised to convert our rate application to modified IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.

MR. SIMPSON:  Which requires changes to components and service lives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The question here is:  What was your responsibility in this application?  You didn't do a study; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, that's not correct.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  Well --


MR. SIMPSON:  We did our own internal study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'll come back to that in a second.

On the same page, the Board talks about the Kinectrics report, it says that all distributors should be considering that when they are developing their asset service lives, and you considered it; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it says:
"The Board expects distributors to reflect their consideration of the information contained in the Kinectrics Report when they present an IFRS-based rates application to the Board."


And that's what you've done here; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your understanding was that you had no obligation to do an objective study.  You only had to assess for yourself what the appropriate useful lives would be; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  My understanding, and as per the IAS 16 requirements, is that we had to do a study, and we've done a study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, we're going to come to your study in a second.  I guess I'm -- my understanding is that under the Board's policy, your starting point is Kinectrics, and then you have to justify any deviation from the Kinectrics numbers.  Is that fair?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, I would dispute the starting point.  But it is fair, as per the July 8, 2010, letter, that the Board's expectation was that we would reference the Kinectrics study and be prepared to discuss any significant differences where the study was -- or where our study and our specific economic circumstances and conditions might have driven our analysis outside of the Kinectrics either typical useful lives or even outside the range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the Board in its letter, its February -- no, this is the July 2010 letter, attaches some excerpts from IAS 16, which you already referred to in your direct evidence.

And IAS 16 is -- does it replace a section of the CICA Handbook?  What's the relationship between the two now, today?

MR. SIMPSON:  What's the relationship between the two?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You used to be obligated to follow certain sections of the CICA Handbook.

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now you're obligated to follow IAS 16 for those issues; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  As of January 1, 2012, we follow the IFRS standards, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So does that mean the CICA Handbook is just gone, or just some sections of it have been now replaced by --


MR. SIMPSON:  Sections of it have been replaced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And this is one of them?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, as you have said, you have to review your asset service lives every year.  You said this in direct.  That's in section 51 of IAS 16; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that doesn't mean you have to do a new study every year; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Not necessarily, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, in a lot of years there might not be any changes, right, because your assets still have the same service lives as they had before?

MR. SIMPSON:  That could be an outcome of the annual review, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you find out -- for example, you find out that your SCADA software has a bug in it and it is going to have to be replaced a lot earlier than you expected, you're obligated under IFRS to change the service lives of that asset; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, not specifically in that example.  The SCADA software or software, in general, will fall into an asset component that we would deem to have a useful life.  Should one particular asset situation fall outside of that or change that, then there's a de-recognition process that now kicks in under IFRS which speaks to the need for the deferral account that we've asked for, in that there will be situations where an asset may, for one reason or another, to use your term, have a bug, but the fact that there's a bug in one particular piece of software doesn't necessarily mean that our software analysis as a whole needs to be changed.

It would be a contributing factor to what we would look at on an annual review perspective, but if it's an anomaly, if it's a one-time situation with a specific component of an asset in that year, it wouldn't necessarily change our estimates of what the service life might be.

It might, but there's no guarantee of that.  We'd have to look at a wider range of factors than that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the componentization rule, if you have a significant component of a category, in this case software, that no longer is similar in life to the rest of the category, you have to separate it out and depreciate it on a separate basis, don't you?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the case of the SCADA example, you would have to do that; right?  If it's only going to last another year, and you've got it lasting five years, you've got to reduce it to a year?

MR. SIMPSON:  Oh, so it's got a bug in it, but we're going to continue to use it for another year?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was the example.

MR. SIMPSON:  That's a strangely hypothetical example, but I suppose it could fall into the fact pattern that you're trying to establish.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other thing on this page that I wanted to draw your attention to is the bottom line, the bottom two lines, that says:

"The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a matter of judgment based on the experience of the entity with similar assets."

That's not changed from CGAAP; right?  The principle has not changed?

MR. SIMPSON:  I think the principle is similar.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have the CGAAP documentation in front of me.  Whether it's the exact same wording or not I couldn't speak to, but the principle would be similar.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going skip over the next three pages for a second.  We're going to come back to it.

But I just want to ask one thing on page 14 of your materials, and that is, you see the acronym "TUL"?  That stands for typical useful life; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this table is the table from the Board's Kinectrics report.  You recognize it?  Or will you accept it, subject to check?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.  It looks like it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. SIMPSON:  It is.  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you could move to page 17 of our materials?  This is the section of your application dealing with depreciation and amortization, but as I understand how your application is structured, you did the whole application on CGAAP, and then you had a section that says:  Here's the translation, if you like, from English to French, or from CGAAP to IFRS; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So does that mean that these pages 17 through 20, which is the section -- this is actually the updated version of this section in your application -- this is actually not relevant to what you're asking the Board to approve; right?  You're not asking the Board to approve any of this?

MR. SIMPSON:  In -- once this is converted to IFRS, the data in this particular schedule, which is under CGAAP, is no longer relevant to the -- ultimately, the revenue requirement and the ratemaking exercise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. SCOTT:  And I would just add the underlying capital spend and the capital program --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?

MS. SCOTT:  -- is still relevant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, actually, those have all changed because of your capitalization policy now, haven't they?

MS. SCOTT:  No, what we're spending the money on has not changed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the numbers are all wrong, aren't they?

MS. SCOTT:  No, I'm not saying -- the numbers are different, but the capital programs have stayed the same.

So in the sense that we are looking for the Board to approve our capital programs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand, but this is the depreciation schedule.  I just wanted to know whether --


MS. SCOTT:  Well, the depreciation comes out of our capital spending, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  All I want to know is whether there is anything in these four pages that I have to look at and say:  Yeah, that still matters.

I can't find anything --


MS. SCOTT:  In terms of the numbers, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to ask you to just, perhaps over the break, just reflect on whether there's anything in these four pages, any word anywhere, that still is relevant.  If there is, please let me know, because otherwise I'm just going to ignore it.  Okay?  Because I can't find anything.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, we can take that to the break, if you like, but I mean, just looking through, this includes in some of these tables 2008, 2009, 2010 depreciation expense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  There's no change to any of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  As of January 1st, 2011, we moved forward under IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So --


MR. SIMPSON:  So those are relevant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other thing I wanted to ask about in this section -- I didn't actually put it in, just because it was not relevant -- is the last sentence of the first paragraph says:

"An amortization study is not included with this application."

Now, is that no longer correct?  Have you now included an amortization study?  Is that your evidence?  Because that's what I thought you just said a minute ago.

MS. SCOTT:  We had already started preparing our cost of service application when the Board's letter indicating that it should be done in modified international – IFRS,  so -- and I think we tried to make this very clear in the opening of our application, is the whole thing was done based on CGAAP.  And that was almost standalone based on CGAAP.

So that statement refers to the CGAAP part of the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I thought we already agreed that the amortization study would be equally valid under CGAAP; isn't that true?

MS. SCOTT:  I think Mr. Simpson addressed that in terms of the discussions they had with the auditor, and the decision was that we would remain with the Board-prescribed useful lives until January 1, 2012.

MR. SIMPSON:  If I could, some of the principles related to service lives may be similar, where you seem to be leaving behind the componentization requirement, which is new in IFRS, and that is part of our study.

There is a study included with this application under the modified IFRS section of the application.  The reference in this document is part of the CGAAP portion of the statement.  And under the CGAAP rate application put together and before the Board, there is not a CGAAP amortization study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  So yes, some of the principles are the same, but there are some that are different.

So our study is under the IFRS section of the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And actually, you didn't file it with the application anyway; right?  You didn't file an IFRS amortization study with the application, did you?  You filed it in response to an IR?

MR. SIMPSON:  We didn't file it with the original evidence.  We considered whether that was required or not, and at the time, we didn't -- we didn't.

But no, it is in the evidence now in response to the interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could just hold your finger on page 17 for a second, and go back to page 10 of our materials.  This is the Board's 2009 report.

You can see the second-last paragraph there, it talks about not prescribing -- about what you should do in the meantime.  And it says:

"Electricity distributors may continue to use their present service lives for rate-setting purposes.  Some electricity distributors may choose to undertake a distributor-specific depreciation study or to participate in a study undertaken by a group of distributors rather than await the outcome of the Board study and produce the results in their rate applications."

Now, I understand your evidence to be that you believe your internal analysis qualifies as a distributor-specific study; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So in your view, when the Board was talking about that requirement, the Board wasn't saying:  We want an objective study, as in the Accounting Procedures Handbook.  They were only asking for a study; it could be internal, as well?

MR. SIMPSON:  We did not go back to the Accounting Procedures Handbook.  The Accounting Procedures Handbook has not yet been updated for IFRS.

Rather, we pointed to the IFRS standards in IAS 16, which are in your documentation here on page 13, and under IAS 16, as is on this page, if you look at paragraph 57 -- which we've referred to earlier -- the last line of that, as you mentioned earlier, is:

"The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a matter of judgment based on the experience of the entity with similar assets."

Our study has been based on exactly that, with our engineers, our accountants, our project partners from Ernst & Young.  I don't see anywhere in here, in the IAS 16 standard, a requirement for an independent study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that the Board was changing its rule?  It wasn't requiring an objective -- an independent study anymore; it was now saying any study will do?  That's what the Board was doing in its July 2010 letter, was it?  Or its 2009 report, sorry?

Is that how you prepared your application, on that assumption?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our application was prepared -- are you referring to the Accounting Procedures Handbook?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Accounting Procedures Handbook has a pretty clear rule: do an objective study under the rules.

MR. SIMPSON:  That's not from 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. SIMPSON:  You're referring to 2009, and I'm just wondering what document you're referring to when you refer to 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The one I just quoted, on page 10, which is the Board's report on IFRS from 2009.

MR. SIMPSON:  So not the Handbook?  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I'm asking you:  Are you understanding that the Board was saying that what we said in the handbook, that you need an objective, independent study, that's not true anymore; any study will do now?  Is that what the Board was saying?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, we followed the Board's July 2009 report, which you have on page 10, related to our transition to IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You haven't -- except for the buildings -- and on the buildings you actually did get an independent firm to review your depreciation rates; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  On the buildings we did.  We felt we needed that external expertise, based on the expertise we have in-house versus otherwise.  We use external consultants fairly regularly on the facility side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is Trow Consulting; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But for the rest of it, you've filed no independent evidence on your useful lives; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.  We completed our study in-house, with the assistance of Ernst & Young, based on our own expertise related to distribution assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, sorry, let's then go to M2.2.  This was filed at lunchtime because of your direct evidence.

And so this is -- these are excerpts from your internal study; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  They're excerpts from our internal study, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I didn't find here anything that says that Ernst & Young was involved in it.  They weren't; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, they were as project partners.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where does it say that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Within the document itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where?

MR. SIMPSON:  Within the document itself -- it's our document, so Ernst & Young didn't tie their names to it, but you have to understand the split between Ernst & Young as project partners and Ernst & Young as auditors.  And Ernst & Young was very heavily involved in the process, in driving the process behind how this study was put together.

They do not -- any of the judgments and decisions ultimately are management's, are ours, based on our expertise.  They're not Ernst & Young's.  But that's not to say they were not involved in ensuring that we were asking the right questions, reviewing the right information and understanding the principles of IFRS that are behind this study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you said somewhere in this document says they were involved; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, it may not say that within the document itself, because ultimately -- because this document is based on -- it provides decisions and rationale for justification of our components and useful lives.  And Ernst & Young in this document did not sign off.

We have white papers that are done through the IFRS process that speak to transition of -- to IFRS.  We have 29 of those, and two or three of them are related to property, plant and equipment.  And within those -- none of which are in the evidence, my apologies, but it's another level of detail.

Within those, Ernst & Young, as project partner, did sign off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, hang on a second.  The white papers are your white papers?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or they're Ernst & Young's white papers that they provide to all their clients?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, they're our white papers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your white papers on PP&E?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those white papers say what?

MR. SIMPSON:  As far as who is signing them?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm wondering how E&Y was involved, because this report -- clearly, this is your amortization study that you say is filed in this proceeding; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ernst & Young is not named here anywhere; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't have any document that says they had anything to do with this in any way, shape or form, do we?

MR. SIMPSON:  Not in the evidence now, no, for the reasons I outlined.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, the first time anybody has heard that they were involved in any way was this morning, wasn't it?  I'm going to invite you to go to the record if you say no.

MR. SIMPSON:  I would be surprised if that's the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's another thing that at the break you can point us to the reference, if you have one.

What I'm trying to get at, Mr. Simpson, is:  Whose document is this?  Is it clearly yours or is it yours and Ernst & Young?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry to interrupt.  Just before we leave the last question, I just flipped to our exhibit on our IFRS conversion project, which was one of our original exhibits, J1-1-1, page 3.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  It references our Hydro Ottawa IFRS conversion project, and it does, in that first paragraph under section 1.2, make the point that our key external advisor for the IFRS conversion project is Ernst & Young.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah.  Well, okay, we knew that; right?  I'm asking about useful lives.

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, I thought the point made earlier was the first that anybody heard of that was this morning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The first anybody heard that they were auditing your PP&E opening balance for 2011 is this morning, isn't it?  You've known about it for some time, but the first time you told anybody about it was this morning; isn't that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure that's right either, no.  We can go through transcripts from the technical conference.  I expect it would have been documented.  I don't recall specifically though, no.

But the concept of an opening balance sheet audit as of January 1st, 2011 is by no means unique.  They're going on across the province, if not the country, for rate-regulated entities.  It's not specifically relevant to the rate application.  As I stated earlier, it's relevant to our conversion to IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't want to belabour this point.  I want to be clear on whose report this is.

This amortization study is yours; right?  It's not E&Y's?

MR. SIMPSON:  It is ours.  It has now been audited by Ernst & Young.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This report has been audited, or your opening balance sheet has been audited?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our opening balance sheet was audited and this is part of the audit evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that means this report has been audited?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll of course provide a letter from Ernst & Young saying they've audited this report and it's fine, an opinion?

MR. SIMPSON:  Ernst & Young is reporting to our audit committee today, as I mentioned earlier, so they can provide -- they can provide documentation as required.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I'd like to ask you to undertake to provide an opinion from Ernst & Young, an audit opinion from Ernst & Young, on this report.

MR. SIMPSON:  They will -- that's so undertaken.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

MS. HELT:  Undertaking L2.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.5:  TO PROVIDE AUDIT OPINION FROM ERNST & YOUNG ON REPORT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We heard yesterday morning that when you did your internal --


MR. SIMPSON:  Or -- sorry, again, to interrupt.  Just for the record, we will have Ernst & Young documentation.  The audit opinion related to our opening balance sheet will not be finalized today due to a separate issue, which is the rate-regulated accounting issue.

So Ernst & Young is reporting today on their findings through the scope that they could work on.  A final audit opinion of our opening balance sheet will wait until the final determination related to rate-regulated accounting.

We separated that from our opening balance sheet field work that was done in August and September.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can provide whatever you can provide on the undertaking, and then the Board can assess whether your statement that this has been audited by your auditors is correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  Very good.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just ask you that -- yesterday morning we heard that you did an internal lead-lag study - analysis, I guess, is the correct term - on your working capital.  But then you gave it to an independent expert to review it, to tell you that it was okay; right?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so except for this discussion about E&Y, you didn't do anything similar with your amortization analysis?  You didn't take it to Kinectrics or Gannett Fleming or someone like that and ask them to look at it, right; nobody?

MR. SIMPSON:  We did not take it to external engineering consultants.  We did have the benefit of the OEB-commissioned study, as far as comparison, and we did that comparison.  And it is in the evidence, our comparison to the Kinectrics study.

So we did use that as further -- as a further factor in considering whether our components and useful lives were appropriate.

Specifically, individually, we did not go out looking, no.  We relied on the expertise of our internal staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you go back to page 21 of our materials?

This is, I think - and tell me whether I'm right - that this is the most up-to-date fixed asset continuity schedule under IFRS filed in the proceeding; is that fair?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these are the numbers we can rely on now as the ones you're asking for for rates to be set on?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  Not specifically on page 21, but as you go forward, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.

MS. SCOTT:  And these were updated at Board Staff's request in terms of breaking out the numbers -- the numbers themselves did not change from the original schedules.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually I was going to get to that.

But page 21 actually doesn't sort of tell you anything, because when you originally did it, you had some adjustments to close out gross fixed assets and accumulated depreciation into net book value, but you're no longer doing that, so that's why they doesn't actually give you any information, except the balance is still the balance?

MR. SIMPSON:  When this particular page is updated -- and again, as Ms. Scott indicates, it was updated at the request -- I guess in our original evidence, the purpose of this document or the value in this document was that we were closing out accumulated depreciation to net book value to have a starting point of January 1, 2011.

In this document, we have not done that, in order to keep the gross costs available.  And that's what we were asked to provide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I wasn't being critical, I was just making sure we understood it.

And there's a column here, "IFRS depreciation rate."  That's your new useful lives that you've proposed in this application; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  And some of them are ranges.  As you could see, there's another level of detail elsewhere.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come to that in a second.

And on page 21, you see you have a total of $995 million of opening balance and -- IFRS opening balance, and you have 476,455 as the accumulated depreciation balance.  Those would be the same as your closing balances for -- under CGAAP, for 2010; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Then if you can turn to page 22, this calculates the depreciation under IFRS in the bridge year; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that depreciation is $39,650,000?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you go back to page -- let me just see if I can find it -- page 19 of our materials, you'll see that you're -- see, these pages do have a use.

You'll see that under CGAAP, your 2011 depreciation would be 46 million 828; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that difference, 7 million 178, is the amount that your opening base in the test year is higher because you've changed your depreciation in the bridge year; right?  It's not a trick question.

MR. SIMPSON:  It is.  I think perhaps I just read it wrong, but let's go back to page 19.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  Which number did you quote?

MR. SHEPHERD:  46,828.

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, that's correct.  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your opening rate base in 2012 is 7 million 178 higher under IFRS than under CGAAP; right?

I'm going to get to capitalization; I'm just dealing only with the depreciation impact.  True?

MS. SCOTT:  But can I just -- my understanding is page 22 is a continuity schedule.  Those are additions, as opposed to what's been -- those are expenses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you'll have to help me with that.

That looks like additions to accumulated depreciation.  So it should be all of your depreciation for the year, and it does match elsewhere in your application.

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, we are with you.  We needed a moment.

The additions that Ms. Scott refers to on page 22 had us thrown off a little bit, related to additions to CAPEX expense, but there are additions to accumulated depreciation, which is the depreciation expense for the year.  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The old continuity schedules had additions and then they had half-year additions, which made it more confusing.

And so that 7 million 178, that's one of the entries in your deferral account.  Effectively, you have to give that back to the ratepayers because your rates were set based on that -- on CGAAP depreciation, but you're actually coming in in 2012 with a higher rate base.

So that's one of the entries that you have in that adjustment for the IFRS conversion account; right?

MS. SCOTT:  That's correct, for the -- yes.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then -- and so then in the next page, 2012, this is your IFRS depreciation calculation for the test year.  So this is the amount you want included in rates, 39 million 405; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And again, if you go back to page 19, you'll see that under CGAAP for 2012, it would have been 47,415; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the difference is just a little over $8 million; that is a decrease in revenue requirement because of IFRS; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  The decrease in the distribution expense translates into a decrease in revenue requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand there's more --


MS. SCOTT:  There's other things as well, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It changes your rate base, so it changes your return and your debt and all that sort of stuff; right?

But in simple terms, your depreciation goes down by $8 million; your revenue requirement goes down by $8 million; right?

MS. SCOTT:  That does flow through, yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  And perhaps in even simpler terms, there is a table that summarizes that in our evidence, in table 2 of Exhibit J1-1-1, as updated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually going to come to that later, but -- yes.  $8 million in '11.  Good.

So that reduction of $8 million, that doesn't actually save the ratepayers any money, does it?  It changes the timing of when they pay for that; they still have to pay for it in the end?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, in the meantime, it increases rate base, so we sort of pay interest and return on it in the meantime; right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SIMPSON:  Just checking on the regulatory model, but yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I was just trying to sort of get to the simple answer that we pay less now, but we pay higher return and interest in the long term to make up for it.  And in the end it all works out.  That's true; right?

So it's not --


MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not a trick question.

All right.  So I then want to take you to page 24, which is -- and this is your evidence, it's your proposed useful lives.  I'm going to get to the more detailed breakdown in a second, but this is a comparison of your old useful lives under the Accounting Procedures Handbook, which is basically the MEA useful lives, and your new proposed useful lives starting in 2011; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it's a comparison to our IFRS useful lives, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so --


MR. SIMPSON:  By USofA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So for example, if you take a look at 1830, poles, towers and fixtures, the old useful life is 25 and your new proposed life is 45; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this is not because poles have gotten sturdier; right?  The old rate was never really correct, in the sense of a reasonable rate for poles, or for this category, was it?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not going to go on the record to say it was never really correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  During your career, was it ever correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  My career is surprisingly short at Hydro, but based on our study over the last two or three years, the 25-year life did not seem appropriate. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, 1840, underground conduit, where the old useful life was 25 years and the new one is 40, again, that's not because it lasts longer.  It's actually because you're getting a better answer; true?

MR. SIMPSON:  True.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason some of these -- the new ones have a range of useful lives is because of componentization, which you talked about earlier; right?  You now have to depreciate the components of assets as opposed to a pool of assets?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know that that's specifically relevant to this document.  This document is by USofA, so there are different components within each USofA account, which is why the range is shown there.

That's not to say there may not -- there may have been ranges within the components before.  In fact, there is.  If you look at the OEB useful lives, you'll see some ranges there, as well.

So the purpose of this table was to line it up to the USofA accounts, where there was some ranges, under the OEB previous, as well.  But your point is relevant.  There's been additional componentization within our fixed asset ledger.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you want to turn to page 25, this is where you break out your componentization of your assets.

And you'll see -- I'll use one that I can understand, because I'm not an engineer.  You'll have figured that out by now.  And this is 1908, which is buildings.

So under the old rule, the whole building was 50 years.  But under the new rule, if I understand this correctly, the structure of the building is 75 years under your proposed lives, but, for example, the roof is only 25 years, because, even if the building is standing up, every 25 years you have to replace the roof; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, the parking lot is only 20 years, because every 20 years you have to repave the parking lot?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's true of a lot of your assets, that you've had to break them down.

How did you account for that under CGAAP?  If you had a 50-year building, let's say, and you had to replace the roof, how did you account for that new spending on the building?  That wasn't maintenance; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.  A capital improvement would add to the asset value, the depreciated asset value, the net book value at the time that the capital improvement occurred.

So if the roof is replaced on a $50 million building, if the roof is replaced for $5 million, the net book value of the asset increases.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you would just depreciate the roof with the rest of it over its remaining useful life?

MR. SIMPSON:  In the previous CGAAP terminology, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that wasn't actually the best answer, was it?  I mean, mathematically it doesn't work out properly, does it?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not following.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, your first roof presumably cost $5 million, and it was depreciated over 50 years, but 25 years later it was replaced.  But you had only half depreciated it at that point, but it was still in the asset --


MR. SIMPSON:  Right, but the structure as a whole was depreciated over 50 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Including the roof?

MR. SIMPSON:  Including the roof.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you've componentized -- I'm just going to use this as an example.

Take 1808 and 1908.  1808 is your substations; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And 1908 is basically your administrative buildings, your maintenance buildings, things like that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you've broken out your administrative buildings into a number of subcomponents, but not so much in the substations.  If you could go back to page 16?

And this is from the Kinectrics study, and the Kinectrics study has also broken them out, but it appears to have said, well, on the administrative buildings, you shouldn't componentize, but on station buildings, your substations, you should.  So they've done the opposite to what you did.

Can you help us with why you did that?  I'm not saying it's wrong.  I'm just trying to understand.

MR. SIMPSON:  Sure.  In our analysis, we -- and, again, we had done our study prior to the Kinectrics coming out.  Why exactly the Kinectrics recommends by this table that administrative buildings not be further componentized, I'm not sure.  I'd have to go back and look at where Kinectrics got that finding from.

We certainly didn't see it that way.  The administrative buildings tend to be or are larger buildings.  So within our headquarters, for example, the concept of replacing the roof or redoing the parking lot was considered a significant component to what it is we do.

We do know from our own analysis and even somebody - in this case, the external - that the parking lot is not going to last the 75 years that the structure itself will, similar to the roof and some other components within.

As to our stations buildings, they're smaller.  The cost is less material on a component-by-component basis.  So in that case, we went to the structure itself, and basically kept fittings as a group unto itself weren't the stations buildings, as you'll see --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fittings is doors and windows, things like that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Fittings is, frankly, kind of a catchall for roof, doors and windows -- not so much doors and windows, but roof, parking lot, if there was such a thing, basically, everything else that falls in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So fittings in your administrative building, which is a separate category that doesn't include the roof and the parking lot, is not the same as what you're talking about as fittings, which I guess is "other", in your substations?  Is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, could you give me that one more time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  On page 25, I'm looking at your componentization of substations, and then administrative buildings.  So administrative buildings, you have a category "fittings", but that doesn't include roof or parking lot?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in substations, you have a category "other", which I assume is what you mean by everything else?

MR. SIMPSON:  Right.  So it would be anything else, from a capital perspective, within substations themselves, HVAC, roof, other major components within that, generally, those that are not built of brick and have a shorter life than the structure itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm not going to go through the details of all of this.  I just want to get the concepts down.

So then if you could go to pages 27 and 28 and 29 of our materials, this is from your components/useful lives analysis; right?  This is from your document?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, beginning at page 27 is our internal document that we used in comparison to the Kinectrics document when it came out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  And so -- and we see you have a column that says "Percentage different from typical", which is how much -- the percentage your proposed life is different from the typical useful life of Kinectrics; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because the Kinectrics study says that the starting point for any utility, using that study, is typical; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  As a starting point guideline, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it says -- it gives an example, right, in the study?  It says, This is how you use the study.  Take the typical and make adjustments to it.  Isn't that what it says?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm not sure it's exactly in those words, no.  That's why Kinectrics provides a range, a mean, a typical and a max, and then a number of other factors that they drew out from the six utilities that provided.

Whether that's a direct quote or not, I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't think I was going to have to refer to this, sorry, so it's not in materials.  This is on page 14 of the Kinectrics study.  They say "an example of using this report", and they give an example with power transformers.  They say start with the typical useful life, look at these factors; reach your conclusion on what you think the right number is.

And it goes on to say:
"The decision on whether typical useful life should be the same as the one in the table or whether it should be shortened or prolonged, and by how much, is not an exact science and depends on the informed judgment of the utility's technical staff and the utility's approach to life-cycle cost management."

That's what you did; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  It sounds right, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  I thought we were on the same page.

MR. SIMPSON:  That is what we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if I can just look at an example here, this is on page 27 of our materials.

You see number 15?  This is "Station DC system."  Do you have that?

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I'm going to confess I don't actually know what that is, but let's pretend I do.

And this is -- your life is longer than they've proposed.  And as I understand it, you've given two reasons for that.

First of all, the newer batteries that you're using last longer than the old ones, and secondly, you should have one life for the whole thing because you change it all at once?  That's just your practice; Am I right?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes, you're correct.  Station batteries, we have -- that's our backup system, if you like, so for all of the electronics involved in the stations, sometimes our power goes out too, so we need to be able to communicate from our SCADA system to our stations and operate the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  I really did learn something today.  I'll forget it.  Doesn't matter.

And so you used a longer life, because in your particular case your experience is that the 20- and 15-year numbers that Kinectrics has suggested are too short; right?

MR. BENNETT:  That was our evaluation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then in numbers 16 through 19, you see 16, 17, 18, 19 on this list?  And please don't teach me what they are, but you say in your comments that you grouped them together, along with a couple of others, in fact, and treated them as one component.

Tell us why you did that.

MR. BENNETT:  Probably the terminology is not great.

We grouped them together in the sense that we grouped them together for comparison purposes in this template.

So for example, when you look at the categories that are there, there's categories where we don't have any components.  Our major components in our stations would be station metal clad, removal breaker, and electrical mechanical relays.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have station switches?

MR. BENNETT:  Not the switches they're talking about.  Independent switches, typically that's on high-voltage stations, Hydro One stations.

Most of our stations' equipment is what we'd call substation equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that these categories 17 and 18, you don't have very much?  Is that right?

MR. BENNETT:  Station-independent breakers, yes.

Sorry, you had something?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, I just -- I mean, this is an example where, in our IFRS components, we have a component, as listed towards the middle of the page, "Station switchgear greater than 50 kV" in comparison to the Kinectrics document.  And the point is from the Kinectrics document, items 16, 17, 18, 19, 22 and 23, in our analysis, are one component.

And that's a factor of what we have or don't have, and our asset management practices on whether we would replace any of those individually or not.

All right?  So as noted in the comments, we hardly have any 22 or 23.  As Mr. Bennett just listed, and I can leave it to him to explain better than I, we do have, I think, significant station metal clad, whereas the typical useful life is the 40 years.  And we do, I think, have some of the others.

But for our purposes, that is one component.

There was not the need to break it into further granularity, as Kinectrics has done.

And that's a common theme.  As you look through -- it's not obvious in this document, but on the screen, where you see the different groupings by colour, that was the purpose of why we colour-coded them, because there are a number of items where the Kinectrics level of detail goes to a level of detail that was greater than what we used.

And we reviewed each of those in detail -- that was the purpose of this document -- to determine that it made sense based on our study and based on our practices.

As I think you might expect from a generic study, it will take you to a level of detail that will hopefully resonate with all possible users across the province.  So there may be some utilities that have this level of granularity in their asset management practices or in the components that they use.

Those that are coloured on this document are where we group them in a way different than the level of granularity used by Kinectrics, either based on our practice, what we have or don't have, and our conditions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just be clear on two things.

First of all, in some assets, you replace them all together, so that's why they have the same life.  This is what you did in station DC system; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not what you did here?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  With this category we're talking about, where you grouped them together for administrative ease, if you like; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, we didn't have all those components when we did the study.  So when the Kinectrics study came out and we were doing comparisons of our components, we didn't have all these components.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you said you don't have rigid buss bars and you don't have steel structure -- you have some, but not very much -- but with respect to station-independent breakers and station switches, you do have them; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Station-independent breakers and station switches are typical on an outdoor structure.

We have very little outdoor structure in an urban environment in Ottawa, and any structure that still exists we are actively removing.

So it's not a principal component in our, you know, 80-plus stations that we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I guess I don't understand that. 

Why would you say in your comments that for 22 and 23, you have hardly any of them, but you don't say that for 17 and 18, which I take it you've just said?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  Perhaps we could have been clearer in our communication.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let's look at another one.

20 and 21, solid state relays and digital numeric relays, and 43, remote SCADA, those are grouped together because they're essentially a system; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  The -- well, there's -- one is taking over for the other, so a typical station previously would have an RTU, a remote SCADA.

In the newer installations, there is no need for remote SCADA.  The digital relays are actually able to do all of the work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so in each of these cases, Kinectrics concluded that a typical life was longer than you concluded, 30 years or 20 years.

Why did you decide 15 made more sense?

MR. BENNETT:  Basically, 15 was based on the fact that they're IT components, and so the conscious -- obsolescence was very high in our consciousness when we were looking at these components, and understanding the move to more and more smart grid, if you like, we looked at smart meters, we looked at other IT components, and we said:  I'm not sure that these are going to be fully supported or in-service longer than 15 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's sort of a general rule you used, that all the IT components are 15 years or less?

MR. BENNETT:  It was one of the guiding principles, I guess, if you like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you had some statistics to back that up?

MR. BENNETT:  Statistics from the point of view of existing PCs that are older than 15 years old.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're not suggesting that your remote SCADA assets are similar to PCs on people's desks, are you?

MR. BENNETT:  They're becoming more and more similar.  It's becoming more and more a software product, and you're counting on support.  And we're finding in much of our software support that 15 years is a long time.

MR. SIMPSON:  If I may also, just for additional, perhaps, clarity on the process here, the document that we have on screen now is our attempt to compare to the Kinectrics document.  We had done our -- we essentially completed our internal study at the time that Kinectrics came out.

So while the groupings may look a little strange -- I think there's eight different colours on this document -- we started from the Kinectrics' on the left-hand side and layered in our own.

And just, you know, kind of as a possible answer to many of these type of questions, if you take the solid state relays, for example, the purple on screen, and reference our study that's in the evidence, page 16 of that, you know, has the listing of how we got to the 15-year analysis.  So it lists the sub-components that are within our component, and then lists, you know, the factors that were considered internally to get to the 15-year life.

So it lists technical obsolescence rather than physical failure, cessation of vendor support.  No spare parts and incompatibility with new technology are all significant problems even though the hardware might not have failed.  The last system in place was purchased '90/91, replaced 2006-2007.

And it goes on from there.  So, I mean, that just, you know, encapsulates -- and for each one of these, we could go to this document and that was our evidence as to how we chose both the components and the service lives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you established these proposed useful lives, did you take a particular point of view?  We heard yesterday, when you talked about your lead-lag study, that you took an extremely conservative approach.  That's what you said.

And so I guess I wondered:  Did you do that here, as well?  Did you take a conservative approach to the useful lives?  We've heard, for example -- you know, we're talking to a lot of other utilities; right?  Some of them are fearful that it's harder to get recovery if you have to shorten a life rather than lengthen a life, and so it's better to have a shorter life now.

Did you consider anything like that is this?

MR. SIMPSON:  We did not consider anything related to that as we went through this process.  As I stated earlier, these documents were put together for purposes of our IFRS conversion and with no thought at the time, when we started this in 2008, towards a rate-making exercise.

If there was a role for Ernst & Young in this, whether they've signed their name to this document or not, as it is ultimately our document, it's been guiding us through the principles and the process, and that's to, from an accounting perspective, get it correct based on componentization, and sub-componentization at times, for the useful lives to be justifiable based on professional experience and our own asset management practices, and then local conditions.

There was no slant one way or another in putting these documents together as to what the outcome would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

Now I want to move to the impact of your choices on useful lives, and that -- the starting-off point for that is pages 30 and 31 of our materials.

You were asked at the technical conference to estimate the difference in depreciation in the test year between depreciation using the Kinectrics useful lives and the -- and depreciation using your proposed useful lives.

And so first let me start with that.  Perhaps you could provide a brief explanation as to why it was hard to recalculate that.  I see that your answer has a lot of qualifications, so why don't you explain why it's difficult to do that calculation, briefly?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, I think our first point, as you're aware in response to the request, was that it did not appear relevant, in the sense that to use the Kinectrics typical useful lives across the board by any utility or any LDC in the province would essentially not be IFRS-compliant.

The chances of the typical useful life being specific to the individual circumstances of any utility across the board, and the componentization therein, to be the same across the board would be highly unlikely, if not statistically impossible.

That was the original point regarding whether we could do it or not.

The second was that it is complicated and difficult to do that type of analysis.  And the first part of that does come down to the componentization.

So as you'll see in what we did eventually, or what we did provide, is the opening balance sheet numbers based on the IFRS 1 exemption for rate-regulated companies is that your net book value on January 1, 2011 for fixed assets is your net book value carried forward for IFRS.  There is no requirement to retroactively restate.

So as we componentized our assets and went from -- I should get the exact number, but went from 35 to 67, or whatever the number is, we have more components now than we did before.  So we had an opening balance sheet number related to one fixed asset, which now has to move to many.

So the original difficulty with the request as it came forward was, as we prepared for our opening balance sheet audit, one of the key things we had to do was, once we determined our appropriate components, split the opening balance sheet value from a one-to-many perspective.  And in order to do that, it requires going back to previous payment data, previous data in our system, and in some cases even extrapolating that to data that could be as old as in the -- in some cases, as old as 50 years.

We still have value on the books at January 1, 2011 that came from 40 years ago, for example.

So that is not a simple effort.  That was an effort that took the conversion team a lot of time.  Our opening balance sheet documentation became six three-ringed binders based on that type of analysis that was required.  So what was a $35 million net book value for one asset became 30 and 2 and 3, for example, for three different assets.

From there, subject to audit, which has now happened, we would need to run that through, based on the different service lives, for '11, and then for '12, which is what we've done throughout these exhibits.

So to go back and take, for example, what we had broken into two components and within each of these eight different colours, where the Kinectrics might have more components, or does, based on those colours, is not just a mathematical exercise to take an opening value and change what was 30 years to 40 years.  It's a matter of getting the right starting point, as well.

And that was the difficulty we had, and still would, for that matter, if that ever was to come back.

We have all that noted.  What we have provided in the response to the request that came is, as is noted, a fairly rudimentary analysis, which takes the opening balance sheet number, which I guess is column 4 on page 31.  It's probably best to flip to it.

It's a little small, but there you've got the opening balance sheet numbers.  So, for example, on group 1, "line transformers - overhead and underground", we have one component with an opening balance sheet value of 31.1 million over a useful life of 30 years.  And that's what we've based things on.

Kinectrics, within that, has three different components.  We've not been able to split those out into those further components.  But what we have done is a rudimentary effort to say, based on what we have in the system, what is the best -- you know, where best could we fit that in?

So as per the comments on the far side, in this case, we took the full 100 percent and left it at 40 years.

I don't believe in those numbers in any way, and I think that's been clear.  It hasn't been through the rigour in the process that our analysis has, but it is a rudimentary analysis to try to get to a response to the motion.  That's where it becomes very difficult.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The amounts of depreciation that you calculated for each of these categories for -- on your proposed lives are more complicated than simply applying years to 31.1 million, right, because you had to deal with the vintages of the various assets and the remaining useful lives of those assets; right?  Far more complicated.

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct, far more complicated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you tried to estimate the same thing using, in this case, 40-year lives or 45-year lives for the purpose of line 1; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  For the purposes of this request, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And am I right in understanding that what happened was you have this one box which says one-to-one relationship, and that's the categories of assets in which you have a category that is essentially the same as a Kinectrics category, so you can just compare them head to head?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.  Those ones are simpler.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you have one-to-many allocations in which, as you describe, you have a different componentization than Kinectrics, usually less componentization than Kinectrics; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  In some cases less, in some cases the same, and even in one case more.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But in this comparison, it's less in every case; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your componentization is less in this comparison; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Or componentization -- sorry, yes.  Our componentization is less for the one-to-many allocations.  We are the one.  The Kinectrics report is the many.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And so if I want to look at the impact of using your lives as opposed to Kinectrics, I would add 1,674,441, the total of the one-to-many allocation, and 368,456, the total of the one-to-one relationship.  And I would get, subject to check, 2,042,897.  That's the estimated depreciation impact of using your lives instead of Kinectrics' lives -- let's round it to 2 million, because we know it's not as accurate as all that.  Are we in the ballpark?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's what falls out of this very rudimentary analysis.

 If we were required for one reason or another to move to all of the Kinectrics components and all of the Kinectrics typical useful lives, we would be back to the drawing board on an opening balance sheet audit, and allocating costs to these different components from January 1, 2011, running those through the updated typical useful lives for '11, and then again for '12.

So whether those numbers would stay the same, they wouldn't stay the same.  Whether they would be vastly different, close to the same, that's a level of effort that we just haven't had the opportunity to go through.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your best estimate right now?

MR. SIMPSON:  It's not my best estimate by any means.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the best estimate you have available to give to the Board?

 MR. SIMPSON:  In response to the specific question that was asked, yes.  My best estimate to give to the Board, as far as appropriate depreciation and componentization under IFRS is what you have on the left-hand side of the column, under the heading "Hydro Ottawa."

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.   Now, this doesn't do a comparison of all of your depreciation; right?  It only compares about 15.2 million of your depreciation, because the other -- and your depreciation, the total is about 39.6, but the reason -- tell me whether this is correct -- the reason is because, in the case of the other ones, Kinectrics -- your lives are basically the same as the Kinectrics lives in those particular asset classes?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't need to compare those?  These are the ones that really mattered?

MR. SIMPSON:  This would just be the delta between the two, related to the question, right.  The others lined up already with the Kinectrics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And I'm going to ask a few detailed questions about this.  Sorry.

But I wonder, Madam Chair, is anybody sufficiently tired of this that you would like to have the break now, or would you like me to continue?

MS. HARE:  I would very much like to take a break now.

[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought that might be true.

MS. HARE:  We'll return at 5 after 3:00.

--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:13 p.m.

MS. HARE:  We're ready to resume, Mr. Shepherd.

Sorry, were there any preliminary matters before Mr. Shepherd continues?
Preliminary Matters

MR. CASS:  Well, I'm thinking Mr. Simpson may have had a take-away about something he was supposed to look at during the break, and perhaps that's why he's signalling me.

MS. HARE:  I picked up on that signalling.

MR. SIMPSON:  It was as subtle as I'd hoped.

MS. SCOTT:  Actually, there were two I think you wanted us to check into.  One was on Exhibit D5-1-1 and whether there was anything of relevance in there.  But I think we've addressed that in terms of -- the historical is very relevant in terms of trends, so...

And then Mr. Simpson had the other one.

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, the other was just going back to checking whether we'd referenced both the work by Ernst & Young as project partners and the opening balance sheet.  So I guess I'll start with we did, in response to an interrogatory, K11, issue 11.1, interrogatory 13 -- that was specific to the pension adjustments.

And we did in that on page 3, the final page, reference that:
"Our external auditor is currently in the process of reviewing the actual evaluation report as part of the audit of the IFRS opening balance sheet.  Results of this audit are expected to be available and presented to the audit committee in November 2011."

And then we have a couple of references similarly from the technical conference September 26th.

MS. SCOTT:  26th.

MR. SIMPSON:  Page 153.  I believe it's me talking here.  Yes, it is.  At the top of page 153, it references "our external project partners, our audit firm who has been working with us on the project for two or three years."

And there was one other on page 171, also from September 26th, and this was in discussion resulted to the interrogatory I just mentioned, and it was said that -- it was actually said by Board Staff that I had indicated:
"That external auditor is currently in the process of reviewing the actuarial evaluation reports as part of the audit of the IFRS opening balance sheet."

So, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So those are all the references you found?

MR. SIMPSON:  Those are the references we found, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Please proceed, Mr. Shepherd.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I'm on page 31, and we're getting to the short strokes, Madam Chair, on the depreciation part, just in case you were wondering.

Page 31, you describe what it's for and the caveats about it.  I want to ask about a couple of categories.  And the first is services, number 13.  This is one in which your amount of depreciation is less than would have been under Kinectrics by about a half-a-million dollars.

And if I understand what you're saying here, you're saying, We did an estimate and we've assumed -- we've decided that none of our system has secondary PILC cables, which -- that's paper insulated copper...

MR. BENNETT:  Paper insulated lead covered cable that's used in Toronto Hydro's network system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that the rest of your system is about 50/50 between direct buried and in-duct cables -- cables, yeah.

MR. BENNETT:  Secondary, yes.  For example, new secondary services in a residential subdivision will typically be in-duct under the -- at the road right of way and direct buried on the customer's property.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, actually, that's -- I forgot that.  And this is only services; right?  So this is the connections between users and your system?

MR. BENNETT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right, okay.

And so you estimated 50/50, and that's the basis on which you did that calculation; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I wonder if you could turn to the other one where yours is -- now I've lost my place, sorry.

Oh, yeah.  Okay.  So in number 3 and number 6, these are one-to-one comparisons -- no, sorry, that's the wrong one.  My apology.  I thought there was another one where your -- oh, here we are, "other station equipment," sorry.  There's about a $300,000 difference between the depreciation on your lives and the depreciation for Kinectrics; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct, 172 and 132.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because you used 20 years -- sorry, 25 years and they used 20 years.  And we talked about that; right?  That's the one where we were talking about the batteries?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you just made a judgment that their number was too short relative -- short a life relative to the actual gear you have in place?

MR. BENNETT:  Yeah.  I would say that the old version of station batteries, probably 20 years may be representative.  In our case, we've done a -- we've had a major replacement program changing station batteries, and so that was our evaluation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a situation in which you're simply different from the norm, as it were, in the sense that your system is different from a normal system?

MR. BENNETT:  I don't know that it's that much different.  I think all of the work that was done here was done by our assets group.  So the engineers looked at information that they had, and in the station battery scenario, we are, I could think, in a better position, in the sense that we've replaced some of the old stuff with new stuff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And now all the rest of these, your lives are shorter than the Kinectrics lives, right, in every other case on this page?

MR. BENNETT:  No, not necessarily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry, is there another one where your live -- or the same?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, the polymer insulated cable, as an example, they have a variety of cables listed, and we're shorter than one and longer than the rest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The end result is that you would have more depreciation than under the Kinectrics numbers; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Based on the split that we used for the evaluation valuation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I just wanted to look at a couple of those as examples.  And as it happens, they're the same two that you talked about in your direct evidence, and so that's quite convenient.

The first is transformers.  And in the case of transformers, you've used shorter lives than Kinectrics, and this morning you gave some explanations as to why that is the case.

And so I wonder if you could just go to our M2.2, which is -- this is an excerpt from your own report; is that right?

MR. BENNETT:  That this way... okay, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And on page 19, you talk about your proposed 30-year life for these two categories of transformers; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so in your evidence earlier today, you said your loading is higher than other utilities.  You have a different policy in terms of how you clean up oil spills, and you have statistics on your post 1970s transformer installs.

I didn't see any of that here.

MR. BENNETT:  Just for clarification, I don't think we said our loading is heavier than other utilities.  What I was getting at is, when you look at the Kinectrics report, it identifies factors, as you talked about, that you're supposed to use in comparing or evaluating your useful life compared to their useful life, so environmental impacts, load impacts, mechanical considerations, et cetera.

So in looking at those, there's been a -- I mean, historically in Ottawa, we were a winter-peaking utility.  So the heaviest load on our transformers would be in the wintertime when it's cold, and the impact on the life of the transformer is not great in that scenario; i.e., it's not detrimental or as detrimental.

The impact on your peak load happening in the summer, in the heat, because the heat inside the transformer is what limits the life or reduces the life, has been a change in the last ten years and does have an impact.

And so that's been a change, if you like -- I don't know if you want to call it environmental or loading or a bit of both.

The other aspect is we were talking about, from the point of view of oil spills, I don't want to say that in the old days that utilities were indifferent to a little bit of oil on the ground, but a little bit of oil on the ground to our customers, to us, to others was not a big issue.

In inspections that we've been doing now, based on the cost to do oil cleanups - and we've had oil cleanups that have cost us $75,000 to dig up somebody's backyard - oil spills have become a big issue.  So previously we probably would not have considered a unit had failure, necessarily, because we found a little bit of oil on inspection.

And I don't know that we would have inspected as regularly as we have in the last number of years.

But today we consider that a failure.  So that has increased the number of failures, if you like, from the point of view of removing it before there's a major oil spill.

And I would say that the -- as I say, the robustness of present-day transformers, not to say that they're not properly or well manufactured, but it's just not the same as, like, the 1940s, '50s units that were very heavy-duty units.

So the impact of salt and weather conditions and nicks and scratches, if you like, based on people bumping into them or snowploughs bumping into them, is considerably increased compared to the old versions.

So those were the types of things that we looked at when we looked at the Kinectrics report, when we looked at our stuff, and comparing our numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm looking at page 19, then, and I'm looking for any of that stuff you just said on this page; I don't see it.  Can you point it out?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, I didn't go into specific detail, or the people writing up the report, but in there it talks about the elements, the salt, et cetera, talks about excess loading on the pole-top units.

I mean, the intent of this wasn't to go into a complete deal on the engineering analysis in comparison to Kinectrics, so to speak.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you'll have to help me with this.

You said there's a change in your system because your loading has changed from winter peaking to more balanced.

I don't see that on this page, so it wasn't part of your study, was it?

MR. BENNETT:  It was all part of our study, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why isn't it here?

MR. BENNETT:  This was just a summary to go along with the useful lives report.  It wasn't intended to be the complete engineering study, you know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so there's a more complete study?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, we have a study called our asset management plan.  We have studies that we do on an ongoing basis, and failure analysis and so on, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So your asset management plan, in fact, says that underground transformers have a 50-year life, but you chose 30.

MR. BENNETT:  Technical life.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you rejected it in this –- you said you reject that, that that's not right.

MR. BENNETT:  Asset management plan indicates that the life of a transformer can be in excess of 50 years.  That's the theoretical life, not the actual commercial expectation, in the sense of the -- all the elements that we're talking about.

And so when Kinectrics did their report, that's the numbers that they came up with; right?  They came up with a number that's based on the technical useful life, and then they came up with a range and they came up with variables that they use to produce the range, and that utilities could use to assess their useful lives compared to theirs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying the Kinectrics useful lives are technical only?

MR. BENNETT:  No, I'm saying they're based on -- their starting point was technical.  And then they used the conditions that they've identified to do an assessment for a range.  And then they've suggested that that's the starting point for utilities and that they should do the same for their specific situation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that Kinectrics didn't consider things like obsolescence, for example?

MR. BENNETT:  They may or may not have.  Depends what was provided for them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you provided your information to them; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Yeah.  We provided useful life information based on technical information.

They did six utilities and they did a weighted average, depending on the value of the assets or the amount of assets each utility brought to the table.

I don't know who the other utilities are, and I don't know what their values were that they provided, necessarily, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then this isn't a good study, this Kinectrics is not a good study because it doesn't deal with how long things actually last?

MR. BENNETT:  Oh, I think it's a good study.  I think it's a very good study, a good basis point.

I'm just saying things like, you know, how long does a car last in Ottawa compared to Toronto, I mean, there's different conditions; right?  How hard you drive it, how much salt it gets exposed to, how many times it gets nicked and dinged.

So it's not necessarily a do-all for everybody.  It's a great starting point for everybody, for sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that's why I'm asking about your study.  You've called it a study, but I don't see anything here that says:  Well, you know, we're not as much winter-peaking anymore.  Oh, you know, these transformers have this or this or this problem.  None of that is here.

In fact, when you're talking about the elements, it's only in comparison to the vault transformer that it's even mentioned.

None of this stuff, none of this stuff that you've said is the reasons today, you've said is the reasons why you use a 30-year life instead of a 40-year life, is here.  So I'm asking:  Where is it?

MR. BENNETT:  Where is it in...

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the evidence.  In your records.

Do you have a different study that we haven't seen yet?

MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  Go ahead.

MR. SIMPSON:  I think there's a handful of points here, if I may.

The evidence that you have is our final summarized document that we put together essentially for audit evidence for purposes of opening balance sheet.

The principles of IFRS, as are noted in your compendium, related to IAS 16, is that these are a matter of judgment for the local entity, the accountants, primarily the engineers.

And what you've got on the page here is a summary of information that was drawn from the engineers at the time.  Whether it touched on every level of detail that Mr. Bennett mentioned this morning or not, it did draw from Mr. Bennett and his staff, and becomes the evidence before you.

The document we have on screen on page 19, you know, it may be a little more cursory than some of the explanation given this morning, but it does mention that the asset management plan talks about the life of a transformer in excess of 50 years.  However, that's the theoretical life and not in line with actual experience.

Under "Overhead transformers" overhead transformers run to failure and typically have a life of 30 years.  That's based on our experience.

Bullet 3 down below mentions the useful life of these transformers is shorter due to continual exposure to outdoor elements, heat, rain, snow, cold, salt, et cetera.  The anecdote about Ottawa being record-high for salt is not in the document, but it is mentioned there.

And right to the very top:

"The life of a transformer is dependent on the loading profiles and ambient temperature change."

So I do believe the evidence is complete, as far as how we determined our components and useful lives, on what's on the screen here.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said, Mr. Bennett, that you have statistics for transformers; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what you said this morning.  You said, I quote:  We have statistics.

MR. BENNETT:  Oh, I don't know if that's what I quoted, but yes, we have statistics.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  They're not filed anywhere; right?

MR. BENNETT:  They're not filed separately, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you go back and look at the age of each of the transformers you took out of service over the last 10 or 20 or 30 years, to do a survivor curve?

MR. BENNETT:  We do an analysis on an annual basis of the failure, transformer failures.  And so the information, for example, is that 50 percent of the transformer failures happen with transformers 37 years; I talked this morning about 31.

When you remove the vintage units, I would say, and we looked specifically at -- I'll call them modern units, we came up with a mean life of 32 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you did survivor curves, then?  You did proper survivor curves of transformers, yes?  You know what a survivor curve is?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes, we do -- have we done a survivor curve?  I can't say for sure that we've done a survivor curve, but I know that we've done analysis of failures of transformers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The proper way to determine the expected useful life, the best way is to do what's called an Iowa curve; right?  A survivor curve?  Isn't that true?

MR. BENNETT:  That's a way to do it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You didn't do that, did you?

MR. BENNETT:  Again, I can't say whether we've done it or not.  I'd have to talk to the assets engineers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then, I'm going to ask you to undertake to file all of the survivor curves that you have prepared for your assets that form the basis of these estimates.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Bennett, could you explain for the -- well, maybe not for the Panel, for me -- what a survivor curve is?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, typically a survivor curve is -- for example, for transformers, there's often called a bathtub curve, if you like, of the failure rates of transformers. 

So typically for transformers, you'll have early on in their life if there's been an issue or a problem, a high failure rate, and then once they settle in, the failure rate drops dramatically, stays relatively constant, and then as they age or -- usually it's age-related, the failures start to increase.

And so in our case, when we were looking at it, we were looking at what I call the mean life, which means 50 percent failure rate.

So at 50 percent failure rate, you know, is that the useful life?  I don't know if that's an IFRS definition of useful life, but a typical sort of engineering approach to useful life.

And so the curves that the counsellor is talking about is basically plotting all of your failure rates for your asset equipment.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to read you something from -- this happens to be from a report by a company called Gannett Fleming.  You know who they are; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Say that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Gannett Fleming.

MR. BENNETT:  Don't know them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, they're a big US firm that does this sort of work.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd, just before you do that, would you like an undertaking with respect to the survivor curves at this time, then?  We haven't assigned it an undertaking number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. HELT:  L2.6 will be for Hydro Ottawa to file all the survivor curves that it has that form the basis of its useful life evidence.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.6:  TO FILE ALL SURVIVOR CURVES HYdro Ottawa has THAT FORM THE BASIS OF USEFUL LIFE EVIDENCE.

MS. HARE:  But just for transformers, is that --


MS. HELT:  For transformers.

MS. HARE:  Is that what we're talking about?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm talking about all of their survivor curves.  They should have done survivor curves for every asset, and I believe they will have none.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe they will have none.

And so I'm going to ask you -- and the fact that this came from a report from Gannett Fleming is irrelevant.  I'm asking you about the principle.  I just happened to use their words so that I don't pretend that they're mine.  They say:
"The use of survivor curves which reflect experienced and expected dispersion of service lives is a systematic and rational means of estimating average service lives to be used to calculate depreciation for utility property." 

Do you agree with that?

MR. BENNETT:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  If I could just maybe jump in on that?  If the undertaking is to -- I'm not clear on what the undertaking is anymore.  I thought we were talking about transformers.

I may get corrected by panel members sitting very close to me, but I think it's fair to say we do not have survivor curves for every component that you're going to see in this document.  What we do have, this is an IFRS conversion document that's been subject to audit and drawn out from the professional experience, and there is various levels of further background available.  Survivor curves on every component, I'm going to call unlikely.

It's a matter of professional experience, judgment, and -- again, experience as to -- as we have documented here, that they typically have a life of 30 years.

This is evidence that has been sufficient for our auditors, and potentially the wording of this undertaking may be asking for a level of scrutiny, evidence, if you want to call it that, that's of an even different standard than that.  And I'm not sure that's appropriate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have to say that I fully expect that your answer will be that you didn't do formal survivor curves, but here's some statistical data that you have.  And it speaks for itself.  I'm not suggesting you had to do an Iowa curve for every single asset, but if you have done none, that will be something that we'll have to argue about in final argument.

I just want to ask you one other thing, and this is from the IFRS IAS No. 16 document on page 13 of our materials.

Section 57 of that standard says at the bottom:
"The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a matter of judgment based on the experience of the entity with similar assets."

Would you agree with me that the best way to comply with that is to do survivor curves, to get the experience of the entity with similar assets?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, it depends, I said.  For example, you want to talk about XLPE cable, tree retardant XLPE cable and duct.  There isn't any 40-year-old tree retardant XLPE cable and duct.  So it's tough to do survivor curves when you don't have all of the information.

You have manufacturer speculation.  Manufacturers speculated that the first XLPE cable would last 50 years.  In our experience, it hasn't lasted 20 years.  So, you know, a survivor curve, if you have all the information and you're talking about the same asset absolutely makes good sense.  But...

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have transformers in your system that are older than 30 years; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done -- I guess you must have done a vintage analysis to determine -- in order do your depreciation; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you know how many you have over 30 years; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many is it?  What percentage --


MR. BENNETT:  I don't have it with me, but, as I said, the distinction is, absolutely, there's transformers older than 30 years.  There's a difference in calibre and quality of the transformer, if you like, I would say, since 1980, and they've consistently worked hard to keep the cost down and the material input low.

So to compare a unit that's been sitting in the -- on a pole in a backyard since 1950 that's no increased load, no exposure to salt, is heavy-duty, compared to today's unit, is not necessarily appropriate.  But at any rate, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's still in your system, though?

MR. BENNETT:  It's still in our system, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So just one final thing on transformers.  I don't want to beat transformers to death, but they are $31 million.  And the impact of your judgment is a 700,000 rate increase; right?  The rates are 695,000 higher because you used 30 years instead of 40 years; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, it's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's your estimate?

MR. SIMPSON:  If I might, there will be an impact.  If we were directed or for whatever reason moved from our estimate of 30 years to 40 years, if we're moving within components, as I stated earlier, there is going to be an impact from that.

So, notionally, it's in that range, but, for the record, I don't think we want to be quoting a specific number where that would be the case, because we haven't had the opportunity to do that rigour on the opening balance sheet numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the last thing on transformers is that you'll see that pages 32 to 35 are Toronto's new useful lives, and pages 36 and 37 are Hydro One Brampton's useful lives, both done with the assistance of external studies.

And, as far as I know, they're the only two new ones that we have.  That's why that's the ones that you see.

And correct me if I am wrong, but they have both used 40 years for both types of transformers that you have, haven't they?

MR. BENNETT:  Which is which again, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the 32 to 35 is Toronto.

MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  This is their Kinectrics report that was done?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. BENNETT:  But not necessarily the useful lives they chose.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the useful lives they chose.  I'm telling you.  I mean, you can check it if you want.

MR. BENNETT:  What's that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can check it if you want.

MR. SIMPSON:  Just help me with where are the transformers specifically on page 32 to 35?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have number 36, pad-mounted transformers, 40 years; yes?

MR. BENNETT:  Where's the -- number 6, you said?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Number 36.

MR. BENNETT:  Oh, 36.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I think number 9, pole-mounted transformers...

MR. BENNETT:  I'm just not sure how the read the chart, because it has a minimum, a typical and a maximum.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you don't think these are their useful lives?

MR. BENNETT:  Well, it looks like their Kinectrics report.  I know Toronto did a Kinectrics report, but this looks like their Kinectrics report.  I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me ask you a different way.

When you were looking at your useful lives, did you look at the work that Toronto and Brampton had done?

MR. SIMPSON:  We didn't specifically look at these numbers that was now provided in your compendium.  We've had discussions with Toronto over the last two, three years about where some of these things were heading, never with Brampton or - what was the other - Guelph.

MS. HARE:  But, Mr. Shepherd, I have the same problem that the witnesses do.  I'm looking under useful life, and there are three.  There's a minimum, a typical and a max.  And are you saying that what they filed was the typical?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe that they're using typical in every case.  I could be wrong, but I believe that to be true.  I withdraw my question, because I understand the concern.  If I'm correct, we'll raise it in argument.

In any case, it is true in Brampton, which they have said in this table what their useful life is.  Transformers are 40 years in both cases; right?

MR. BENNETT:  What page was that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is pages 36...

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, we can move on to Brampton.  I think we could possibly speak to the Toronto situation if you want to return to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. SIMPSON:  Now, there is potentially some danger in lining these up properly, but one of the references we've used, you know, in comparing whether we've got it correct or not is Toronto Hydro did submit a document.  It says it was filed 2011, February 23rd.  And my apologies; I don't know if anybody else has this.

EB-2010-0142.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the one.

MR. SIMPSON:  Exhibit R2, tab 1, schedule 3, appendix A.  That's a handful.  And I believe in item 36 on page 33, "Pad-mounted transformer underground" --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. SIMPSON:  The list is min 30, typical 30, max 40.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  In looking at the reference that I just showed, the underground distribution transformers, which is line 67 -- and I'm sorry if you don't have it –- it lists their CGAAP useful life, the Toronto Kinectrics study typical at 40, which does line up there, but their accounting update useful life they're using is 30.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  So they agree with you?

MR. SIMPSON:  So it appears to me they've used the minimum, in that case, from their Kinectrics study.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, we missed that.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the last thing I want to talk about on useful lives is the nature of your study.

And if you could just take a look at the excerpt that we've given you in M2.2, we've given you the underground conduit component, because you talked about that this morning, and the transformers component.

This is typical of the explanations throughout the document; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  These are -- this is typical of the explanations throughout the document, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the explanations throughout the document are:  Here's our number and here are the factors we considered.  Yes?

MR. SIMPSON:  Generally, yes.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The document doesn't include any statistical analysis, does it?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't know if I would say it doesn't include any, but generally, no.  This is a summary document, based on the review that occurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if I understand what your engineering department did correctly - and I don't mean this in a pejorative way, don't get me wrong - they sat around and said:  Okay.  We know our system.  How long is this stuff going to last?  What do we have that tells us the reasons why it would last this length or this length?  And later, then, when they had the Kinectrics report:  If our number is different from Kinectrics, why?

That's what they did; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me move on to capitalization of overheads, because I think we've had enough useful lives for now.

And at the risk of disappointing everybody, I want to go back to page 4 of our materials.  This is back to Accounting Procedures Handbook.

And you'll see at the top of the page, it talks about the directly attributable rule.  Now, that rule hasn't changed from CGAAP to IFRS; right?  Any expenditure that's directly attributable to a capital -- the construction or putting in service of a capital asset should be capitalized; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Specific to directly attributable costs, yes, they should be capitalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that hasn't changed from CGAAP to IFRS?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's changed is that it used to be that you could include overheads in direct costs as part of your costs associated -- you could allocate some to your capital program; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  What specifically changed is the concept of allocating overhead costs to the capital program in general, on a percentage basis or some other factor, versus allocating costs to the capital program, where it has to be specifically attributable to an asset -- sorry, I've reversed that.  If I quote it properly, it's attributable to a specific asset.

So the concept of an overall overhead allocation of 10 percent of my time, for example, to the capital program as a whole is no longer allowable under IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you are working on a particular project, then that could be treated as directly attributable, but the fact that, in general, 10 percent of your time is spent on capital projects is not something that can be capitalized?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, the last time your capitalization policy was approved was in EB-2007-0713; right?  Your 2008 cost of service application?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And at that time, you asked for a reduction in the amount you capitalized.  That is, an increase in your OM&A of $6.5 million, because you wanted to capitalize less of your indirect overheads; is that correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, was the reason for that anything do with IFRS?

MR. SIMPSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It wasn't you were thinking this is going to happen?  We might as well start on it now?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, it's before my time, so I have a bit of an issue on the mindset at the time.

What I can say is that the study that was completed in 2007 for 2008 did start the process of moving towards IFRS compliance.  Whether that was the intent at the time I don't know.

MR. GRUE:  I was at that hearing and I was part of that, and the report, I think, actually mentions that it did not anticipate going into IFRS, and that would be taken care of that time, based on the accounting standards, et cetera, that would come out.

So it was based on a CGAAP review at the time of what our overheads -- and there was a change in the accounting in general of the handbook, allowing -- you don't, certainly in regulatory exceptions, which was removed also, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this study that you did in 2007, was that an external study?

MR. GRUE:  It was -- KPMG assisted with that study, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, did they do the study, or did you do the study and they looked at it?

MR. GRUE:  We did the study and they looked at it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that just dealt with one subcategory of your capitalized costs; right?  It dealt with things like IT and human resources and stuff like that, but whole other categories were not changed; right?

MR. GRUE:  Every cat pool item that was in the overhead admin costs were looked at.  So whether it be accounting, IT, they were all looked at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It wasn't, for example, engineering?

MR. GRUE:  Engineering was looked at, as well, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, really?  But you ended up still capitalizing all of it?

MR. GRUE:  At that time, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the reason I brought this up is because I just want to clear up something.

Your evidence at -- and I'm just going to see if I can find it.  At page 45 of our materials, which is your J1-1-1, page 11, and two pages later at page 47, a more detailed breakdown - in fact, 47 is probably the better page to use - says that your CGAAP number for 2012 is 15.4 million.

But M2.3, which is an excerpt from the Board's decision allowing you this reduction, has an amount capitalized of 4.1.

Now, I take it these are not comparable numbers; that 15.4 that you have in your current application and the 4.1 that was left after your change in 2008, those aren't -- 4.1 is a subset of 15.4; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm sorry, I was -- I might have missed the last part of the question.

But if you reference the 15.4 million, which you have on page 47, and it is from our documentation, back to our Exhibit J1-1-1, page 11, which you also referenced?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  The 15.4 million is the combination of, under the "CGAAP 2012 test budget" column, which we now have up on screen -- whoops.  You've been doing so great, too.

Within that is the administrative, engineering and supervision burdens.  That's our 15.4 million.

The 20.9 million you see at the top on direct -- is direct labour and fleet.  Those are what we consider our direct costs.  As far as what's capitalized, they do not change, as you'll note, between CGAAP and IFRS.

And the remaining three categories, administrative, engineering and supervision, 15.4 million of that is the CGAAP, which references what you have on page 47.  And that has been reduced by 4.9 million -- or, sorry, to 4.9 million, which is a 10-1/2 million-dollar reduction, which has been noted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that doesn't help me.  Let me rephrase the question.

In 2008, you were allowed to decrease your amount capitalized from 10.6 million to 4.1 million.  Then I see you saying on page 47 your CGAAP number is up to 15.4 million.

I assume that's not -- that doesn't equate to the 4.1.  It didn't balloon from 4.1 to 15.4 over those four years; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, they're not comparable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am right --


MR. SIMPSON:  Hang on.  Hang on.  Sorry, if you could just give me a moment, because I'm not entirely familiar with this document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just trying to make sure we're comparing -- perhaps I can help you with this.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps in the interests of time, I can help you with this.

I think - and you can tell me whether this is right - that the sections on page 47, from facilities down to regulatory, are the categories that were in the 4.1 in 2008 - that is, the indirect costs - which went from 10.6 down to 4.1 in 2008, and now you're bringing down to zero?

MR. SIMPSON:  You may be getting close, but I would suggest the supply chain on page 47 is likely under that indirect costs, as well.  But in all honesty, I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then I'm going to ask you to provide us with an undertaking to track that 4.1 that you were approved in 2008 to this 2012 list to see how much it has grown between 2008 and today.

MR. SIMPSON:  All related to CGAAP?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah -- no, just the CGAAP number, because whatever it is, you're taking it down zero; right?

I just wanted to make sure we're comparing apples to apples and we haven't already done some of the stuff you're asking to do now.

MS. HELT:  That would be undertaking L2.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.7:  to Track the 4.1 Million in J1-1-1 approved in 2008 to the CGAAP 2012 test budget to see how much it has grown between 2008 and today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you could turn to page 38 of our materials, I'm actually -- by bouncing around, I'm actually shortening this.

This is another excerpt from the Board's report on the transition to IFRS, and this is dealing specifically with the new IFRS capitalization requirements.  Do you have that?

And this is the start of the analysis.  At the top of the next page, the Board notes CCC's submission that this - this conversion to IFRS is an opportunity to standardize regulatory accounting, because the utilities on their capitalization policies are all over the map.

And they had actually -- if you see on the previous page, Board Staff had actually collected some data to show that the policies were not consistent.

And so if you look at the paragraph that starts, "It will be important for the Board", what the Board says is you have to file your capitalization policy in your first cost of service filing after the transition to IFRS, and make clear exactly what you're doing and what your impacts are; right?  I'm paraphrasing.

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board, by the way, agrees with CCC that standardization is a good goal, right, above, "The Board agrees with the analysis provided by CCC"?  Do you see that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then on February 24, 2010 - and you've quoted this in your material - the Board sent a letter to the utilities saying, Just in case you weren't clear on what we wanted, you have to go to IFRS capitalization policies.  Right?  I'm simplifying it, but that's basically what they said; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it talks about -- on the second page, it talks about things that should and should not be capitalized; right?  So, for example, it says that things like project engineering costs should be capitalized.  You do that already, right, and you haven't changed that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have a vehicle used in construction, that's capitalized; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have employee benefits for staff that are working on capital project, that's capitalized; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Direct labour, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, if there's things like pension or OPEB, that sort of stuff, for the employees working on capital projects, that's all capitalized?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, correct.  But there's a standard rate used for the direct labour, which picks up an assumption of benefit costs, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if your pension and OPEB costs go up for the test year -- they did; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You increased your standard rate to recover them; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  The standard rate would be subject to review based on that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I'm asking, in your application, do you have a higher standard rate because of that change?

I can explain.  The reason I ask is because a number of utilities use a one-year lag.  So in the test year, they don't capture an increase.  I'm asking whether that's true of you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SIMPSON:  We do -- for budgeting purposes, whether it's rate application or otherwise, we do an analysis of the hourly rate as we ramp up for the budget process.

So, yes, within the subsequent year's number, there is a new estimate for the standard rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that new estimate is based on your 2012 estimates of those costs or your 2011?

MR. SIMPSON:  In this case, it would be, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Excellent.

So then move to page 45, if you could, and that is -- you have this line "labour and fleet."  Now, labour and fleet, does that include all of those things that we just talked about, so, for example, the cost of the truck on the site and the cost of the people working there, including all their benefits and everything like that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  Through standard rates, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will the standard rates for those things also include things like the building that trucks are housed in, or the locker room that the employees use, that sort of thing?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have at my fingertips the analysis we used for the standard rates.  I don't believe so, but perhaps I could take that as an undertaking and get it confirmed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'll come to the undertaking in a second.  I thought you would say that.  But used to be under GAAP -- under CGAAP that you would capitalize those things, but you would capitalize them as part of your indirect overheads; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so now you're not allowed to capitalize them that way, but you haven't changed your standard rates to reflect the fully-loaded cost of employees, have you?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, that's what I'd like to confirm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's what I'm -- that's...

[Witness panel confers]

MR. BENNETT:  Sorry.  The rate that we're talking about is an hourly rate, if you like, that we used to charge with the employees and was related directly to their costs.  If there were -- prior to the review in 2007, we looked at it, I would suggest to you, much like a contractor.  So we said all costs associated with the works department are appropriate to be capitalized, if that's what they're working on; right?

So just as you described, the housing, the IT support, all of that type goes to support the work group, goes into a burdened rate.  Not directly into the hourly rate, necessarily, but into the burdened rate, and would be capitalized.

A lot of that changed in 2008.  I don't have all the particulars, but that was one of the things in the review:  Is that appropriate, or are we capitalizing too much?

And my understanding is, in the IFRS, that you now will not include that in any capital costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the amount you charge for an employee's time, then, is no longer equivalent to what you would theoretically charge a third party, if you were supplying that employee to the third party?

That's your contractor-type rate.  It's not what the -


MR. BENNETT:  We don't have a contractor-type rate, because we're not allowed to be a contractor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I'm asking theoretically.

MR. BENNETT:  But yes.  Theoretically, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not the same anymore?

MR. BENNETT:  No, the rate we're change charging is based on the employee's salary and direct benefits.

MR. SIMPSON:  What I would like to confirm through the undertaking, before I state it specifically for the record, is the direct costs and the standard rate, from an accounting and audit perspective, what -- as I mentioned earlier, my time on an administrative basis and any facilities or computers or whatever it might be associated with that are no longer directly attributable to the asset.

What I would like to verify and will be in these numbers one way or another is:  Is there a portion of, as you state, facilities and some other -- what may be considered direct costs within the direct rate, if you follow me.  And that is what I would like to confirm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Another area that I'm sure you had discussions with your -- I'm still not ready for the undertaking yet, because it's a more comprehensive undertaking and you only need one -- is -- that I'm sure you've had discussions with your auditors about is unproductive time.  And it used to be that the unproductive time of an employee was included in their charge-out rate, right?  Training time, sick time, et cetera, vacations?

And now some portion of that is no longer included; is that right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And are there categories that are in and out?  Or have you simply changed up -- changed the percentage from 80 percent to 40 percent or something?

MR. SIMPSON:  We would have looked at each one of those individually.

So I think as we're all suggesting now, we can get that level of detail in an undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the undertaking is -- I'd like you to turn to page 59 of our materials.  And this is actually from Guelph Hydro, but it's a convenient list.

This is a list of things that they at one time capitalized, and what the Board Staff was trying to identify in this case was what's the menu, and then try to identify which of these things are actually now going to be capitalized under IFRS.

And so I wonder if you can take this list, or a better list if you have a better list, but at this sort of level of granularity, and just go through and list what was capitalized before and what is capitalized now.

And I can tell you that this is not because we necessarily think you're capitalizing the wrong things, but because we're trying to go for consistency between utilities and we're going to ask the same question of every other utility.

MR. SIMPSON:  No, that's understood.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you do that?

MR. SIMPSON:  We can.  I think your part (b) of that, of us providing the list, is more likely than specifically referencing what's on the Guelph list.

There can be different terminologies in the background, but we will create that list for you as to what we've reviewed and what's still in and what's still out.  Essentially, a greater level of detail than what we've already provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the level of granularity we're looking for, or more, if you can.  And when you're preparing that list, keep in mind that every other utility is going to have to look at it and give us the same answer.  So be nice.

MR. BENNETT:  Just for clarification, though, this is the list of all of their overhead activities that are not capitalizable, not necessarily that they were capitalizable?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, this is the list of things that they may have been -- that may have been capitalizable at some time, and then they've described on the next page what things they had to take out.

MR. BENNETT:  So the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of these things you'll have in.  But in any case, you'll prepare your own list.  That's good.  That would be even better.

Now, my last question on capitalization --


MS. HARE:  Just a second, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.

MS. HARE:  I think Ms. Helt is going to give it an undertaking number, but I'm not sure if you're asking what they used to capitalize or what they're going to capitalize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Both.

MS. HARE:  Both.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're trying to get the differences.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're trying to get the list of things that were capitalized before and what is the list of things that were capitalized in the application.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking L2.8. 
UNDERTAKING NO. L2.8:  to PROVIDE LIST OF ITEMS THAT FORMERLY CAPITALIZED BEFORE AND PROPOSED TO BE CAPITALIZED IN THE APPLICATION.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't know if this is going to be helpful to you.  I think it may be helpful to the Board, as well.

At the same time, a response in the order of:  Have there been any changes in your approach to payroll management, in that is your work order system -- are you anticipating any changes to your work order system, in that you're going to be tracking in more granularity particular activities, a narrative along that line.

MR. SIMPSON:  I can speak to that.  We are definitely tracking -- there's been changes to our work order system effective for 2011, not specifically related to the capitalization or otherwise question, but more related to the componentization of our fixed assets, where we used to track it at one level, and now with the more components required, we need different flexibility within our work order system to track time and effort to the specific components.

We upgraded our financial system in fall of last year, and with that, we were prepared for the IFRS requirements that tracked within the work orders.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Have you given any consideration to a more granular tracking of things which would typically have been, under CGAAP, a general burden, going to an activity basis from an engineering perspective and what have you, and actually tracking against projects, as opposed to generalizing as a department level?

MR. SIMPSON:  We considered that.  I'm hoping I'm following the question correctly, and please expand if I'm not.

I mean, through the process, there is consideration of whether -- I use myself for the example, right?  10 percent of my time.  How would we, if we were so inclined, you know, if we wanted to specifically make a case that my time was directly attributable to a specific asset?  And maybe there may be a case through the year where I am sitting in a meeting, talking about a budgeting discussion, that is specific to an asset.  Now, that's just one example because it's close to home.

I found that overall, the administrative -- and with, frankly, the advice of our project partners, Ernst & Young, that, you know, the level of granularity required and the audit evidence to do that, and based on the principles of IFRS of essentially eliminating the administrative component, we've gone straight to that level.

There are cases and there will be cases where we will have staff, potentially finance staff, seconded to a larger project for one reason or another.  And in that case, they will be charged to the capital project, right?  That would be a case-by-case type of basis.

As far as rolling that out on a larger scale, in compliance with what we believe the principles of IFRS to be, we haven't gone to that level of effort.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  It was engineering that came to mind as the one that seemed most applicable to that type of approach.  But I take your answer.

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, yeah.

MR. BENNETT:  From the engineering point of view - and we had a discussion about this at the technical conference - within my group there are sort of two sides, and I guess maybe the definition of engineering is different for some of the different utilities.

So I have an engineering group that's the assets group, that is engineers that are doing planning studies, typically, capacity studies, reliability studies.  They help put together the five-year plan and they help put together the annual program, if you like.

They're not working directly on any specific asset, necessarily.  So that's -- when we're talking about engineering burdens, that's what we're talking about.

I have another group that works on projects.  So they're actually taking the project, manning the projects, whether it's a stations project or a pole replacement project, whatever, there's either engineers or designers, as we call them, techs who are managing those projects and charge their time directly to those projects.

And in follow-up to what Geoff was saying, you know, I can give you sort of an example.  A light rapid transit project in the City of Ottawa, if we put together -- and I fully expect we will take a look at some point putting together a dedicated team -- those people that are working directly on that project, we would set them up to charge their time to that project.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is this something that you would -- is this a change in approach commensurate with the shift to IFRS?  Is it strategically aligned with that?  Or is this something that you would have done anyway?

MR. BENNETT:  It's what we would have done anyway.  Where we've struggled a little bit, I guess, between engineers and the accountants in looking at engineering overheads as you described, you know, philosophically I would like to think that in their -- in the work that they do, the engineers are working on capital, in the sense that they're working on the development of our long-term capital program, but they're not working directly on the capital asset, and that's sort of the distinction that changes for us right now.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  If I could -- just maybe to expand on that, if we could go -- because some of that does come out when you speak separately about the administrative versus the engineering.  If you go back to page 47 in the SEC compendium, you'll see our engineering burden, as we called it.  And this is outside of direct costs in Mr. Bennett's group, right, those that are clearly directly attributable to whatever assets they're working on.

But our engineering burden under CGAAP was about $4.4 million.  I'm not sure if we're going to page 47 or not, but -- I'm sure you have it.

MS. HARE:  We have it in front of us.

MR. SIMPSON:  Good.  And we've reviewed all of those through our process, and certain -- as noted in the reason, certain activities capitalized under CGAAP are not considered directly attributable, the planning functions, as Mr. Bennett lays out, and some of the others.

So we still will under IFRS have an amount capitalized under engineering for 1.8 million, but it's not the full amount as it was under Canadian GAAP.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Quesnelle, that was my next question, and you handled it much better than I would.

So my follow-up to that is:  In these areas where these categories like IT and finance, and things like that, where things are -- where right now you're not allocating anything to capital, or you're not expecting to, there are components of those that are directly attributable; right?

And we just -- we talked about the example of you working on a project, right, you having to deal with a report, for example, and you spend ten hours on it.  You could record that and charge it to capital, couldn't you?

MR. BENNETT:  Are you talking about on a distribution type project?  Certainly in IT, there could be a general plant capital project that people are assigned to and their time is capitalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about assigning people to a project.  I'm talking about the example of a person whose job is general, but who from time to time is spending considerable amounts of time on particular projects.

MR. SIMPSON:  The theory is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But that's not mandatory; right?  IFRS doesn't say you have to capitalize things that are directly attributable, or does it?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, I don't believe it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's in your discretion whether you capitalize it or not?

MR. SIMPSON:  I never thought of it that way.  IFRS specifically states that what can be -- what can be capitalized needs to be attributable to a specific asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what you've decided is that for -- and I was going to ask for a clarification on this.  If you look at page 49 of our material - this is from the technical conference - we asked you -- we gave the example of people working overtime in the IT department to run a model for a project, and asked, Could you charge that to capital?  And your answer is yes; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, the specifics of the question I was considering at that time was more related to what I referred to earlier, in the sense that if there is a specific project that requires finance staff on a full-time basis or close to it, that we would continue to charge that as specifically attributable to the asset.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking whether you are charging it, though.  Let me ask you the example again, then.

If you have people working in your IT department, they have to work overtime to run a model for a capital project, that's directly attributable; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  As I said, the theory behind that is correct.  We would have to have documented evidence for that, from an audit perspective, in order to capitalize that going forward.

I believe the Board would want us to have an audited version of what it is we're capitalizing or not capitalizing and how we would create that evidence on a one-off here and there, my discussion is about a specific asset.  Some of my overtime is about a specific asset.

A, I don't believe it's material; and B, the evidence tracking of that would be prohibitive to the value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I understand correctly that you've decided not to do that.  You could do that.  You've decided not to do it, in part, because it's not material and, in part, because the cost of doing so would be too onerous relative to the value; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you say it's not material, it could be $1 million a year; right?

MR. SIMPSON:  If it was $1 million a year, that would be, to my mind, more likely the situation where we have staff working specifically on a project for a period of time, and then that would get charged.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.

MR. SIMPSON:  A little bit of overtime here and there, a meeting here and there, is not going to get to us $1 million a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The last question I wanted to ask you on this is with respect to capital contributions.

One of the things that happens if you capitalize less is that your capital cost of assets is less, right, and that means that when you calculate your capital contribution for a subdivision developer or somebody like that, the amount that you calculate is a lower number; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we've included an exchange that we had with the CFO of Guelph Hydro on this point, in which we asked him whether that was the case, and he said, No, we wouldn't expect the capital contribution to go down.  And when we quoted back his own evidence that said it would, he said - and I'm looking at page 64:
"Just because of an accounting change, we don't expect the level of contributions to change going forward."

And that's because the cost doesn't actually change; right?  What you're spending doesn't change.  It's just how you account for it changes.  Some of it's in OM&A that used to be in capital; right?

MR. BENNETT:  Correct.

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.  And we determined that our estimate on that is $2 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our estimate on that, as per our evidence, is about $2 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  That's the reduced contributions?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why wouldn't you change your capital contribution model, how you calculate your contributions, to recover the same amount going forward as you are now?

MR. SIMPSON:  It's an item we've had long and heated discussions about and are open to either of the discussions either way.  But in the end, at our -- or at my core, anyway, we've stuck to the principles of charging to the customer the capitalized cost of the asset.

And through IFRS, the capitalized cost of the asset, the definition of that has changed, and the shifting of the costs, as is in our evidence, moves from the customer on the specific development side, whether it's a developer, the city, the MTO, whoever it might be, to OM&A because, as you've indicated - and I would agree with - our costs to deliver that program or construct that asset really, at its core, haven't changed.

From an accounting perspective and from a principle perspective, the definition of the cost of that constructed asset has changed, and that is what we bill the customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you've concluded that it's not appropriate to change the model, or it's still open -- you're still open to that possibility?

MR. SIMPSON:  We've concluded that based on the principles of charging the full cost of the asset, and that definition has changed, that what we have put forward is appropriate.  And that's where we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

And my last question is with respect --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Before your last question -- or are you finished with that?  I don't want to ask your next question.  Just on the capital contributions, I want to make sure that I'm understanding your response there.

In what you've proposed to do going forward, and, first of all, my first question, my understanding of the essence of the whole economic analysis of this is to ensure that your future revenue streams are kept whole and this is the delta.  Capital contributions make up the delta between what you -- or measure any shortcoming that your revenue streams have towards paying for that asset out of rates?

MR. BENNETT:  Sorry, go ahead, Jane.

MS. SCOTT:  I just want to say there is also an input to the economic valuation formula that is incremental OM&A.  So there is an OM&A input into the calculation of the contributed capital.

MR. BENNETT:  But I just want to be clear, in the capital contribution, so there's a couple of varieties of capital contributions.  So the capital contributions I think you're speaking about is on the road right of way, for example, where we have to do an expansion and we look for a capital contribution.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I was thinking development.

MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  So our distribution capital contributions for development would be a hundred percent on the customer's property of the capital value of the installation.  So for example, if a customer comes along and is looking for a pad-mounted transformer, he pays me a hundred percent of the capital costs of that transformer.

Residential, they pay -- well, there's a formula about net present value all of that stuff, but they basically pay a hundred percent for the capital cost, the installation in that subdivision, less some credits.

Now, if you talk about road right-of-way work, there could be 50 percent labour and labour-saving devices, depending on who you're dealing with.

So there's variety of types of capital contributions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I recognize that.  I was thinking specifically of development work and the economic analysis that goes into deriving the capital contribution from residential development, for instance, in that formula.

I was wondering why it was going to alter the economics going forward, because I was thinking that there would be the offset of the -- your revenues should represent your current OM&A, and I'm wondering why there's that difference on that type of economic analysis on a go-forward basis.

MS. SCOTT:  And there are the different inputs.  The capital, which we're saying would go down, based on the IFRS.  The revenue will be going up to a certain extent.  The OM&A incremental will be going up.  But it's not -- certainly for the OM&A, it's not an immediate impact.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Not immediate?  Okay.  All right.  So this --

MS. SCOTT:  My feeling is long-term, whether it will come back to the level it's at now, I can't say, but it will -- the capital contribution will rise as the incremental OM&A rises, based on IFRS.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is it too simplistic to say that the temporal issues related to the transfer of CGAAP to MIFRS is commensurate with that type of analysis, as well, that they will be lockstep over a period of time?  Will be migrating to the -- it's a lag issue?

MS. SCOTT:  That's my feeling, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Understood.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I didn't actually understand that, so I'm just going to ask one follow-up question.

When you calculate the contribution, if you get less, you're not going to get more later, right?  You don't come back next year and say:  Oh, now you owe us some more money.

MS. SCOTT:  No, for initially -- and I think this is what Mr. Quesnelle was saying, is that initially you will have this gap between what you calculate.

But over time, the OM&A and the revenue will increase such that it will offset the -- the OM&A adds to what the contributed capital should be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's my point, is the utility is whole.  But you're getting less from the developer and more from the ratepayers; isn't that how it works?

MS. SCOTT:  In the short-term, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I think forever.  Isn't that true forever?

MS. SCOTT:  No, because the -- in the economic evaluation, it looks at the long -- the revenue over time, and it looks at the OM&A over time and nets those two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  And then applies that to the capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  So if the capital contributions go down by $2 million, you're not going to get that back from the developers ever?  You're only going to get it from the ratepayers, right?

MS. SCOTT:  In the short-term.  In that initial -– in the test year, yes, I would agree with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when are you going to get it from anybody other than the --

MS. SCOTT:  No, I'm not saying you're going to get that two million back.

MR. ASHEPHERD:  You'll never going to get it back, right?

MS. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll get it back from the ratepayers --

MS. SCOTT:  But in the future, when we apply -- when we run the model, that two million will not be two million; it will be something less.  It will close that gap between what we've asked for under CGAAP and what we've -- are asking for under IFRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand why that is.

MS. SCOTT:  Because the OM&A is going up, too.  And the OM&A is an input -- granted, with a bit of a lag -- into the economic evaluation formula.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, I see what you're saying.  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The only way to correct that would, then, be to have a formula that was able to be project the migration from one pot to the other over time, and actually build that, as opposed to doing a future revenue stream or net present value of the future revenue stream.  You would have to re-design that revenue stream to take into account the transition from CGAAP to IFRS, and the effects on capital and OM&A.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  You would.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  My last question is very brief.  It relates to the deferral account for gains and losses.

You've asked for that account because you're no longer using pooling in your asset disposals.  That is, you don't -- formerly when you took an asset out of service, it just decreased the value of the pool, and if there was a gain and loss -- or loss on its disposal, it was irrelevant.  It was reflected in the pool value, right?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now you have to recognize that gain or loss immediately; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you look at our page 65, this is an excerpt from the addendum report of the Board -- that's this year's report on IFRS -- as a result of the working group.

You're aware there is a working group that was dealing with some of the leftover issues?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And at page 65 of our materials, which is page 22 of the report, you can see that -– the question was asked:

"Should the Board grant a generic variance account to mitigate volatility?"

And the example given is gains and losses arising from early retirement of in-service assets.

Now, other things are dealt with too, but that's the one specifically that was asked about.

And you'll see at the bottom of the page where the EDA, on behalf of the distributors, proposed such an account, specifically for early retirement of assets.  Do you see that?

MR. SIMPSON:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then on the next page you see the Board's conclusion in the paragraph that starts out:  "The Board notes."  Et cetera, et cetera.

And by the way, it talks about the fact that -- well, I'll just quote what the Board says:

"At the first cost of service application after the transition, a utility will be expected to provide a forecast of asset useful lives..."

Let me stop.  You've done that, right?

MR. SIMPSON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:


"...and gains and losses from retirements."

You haven't done that, right?

MR. SIMPSON:  No, we have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the Board said they expect you to do that.  Why didn't you do that?

MR. SIMPSON:  We haven't done it for reasons that are also listed on these pages.

At the bottom of page 65, the point made by the EDA was that an account should be established because:

"The utilities have no experience in forecasting the extent of losses arising from early retirement of in-service assets."

For the point you made, we haven't had to do that in the past.  These are pooled assets only.
"And most utilities are likely to encounter material difficulties in forecasting the extent of those losses."

And then on the next page, our friends at Hydro One -- and I'll call them our friends in this case -- suggested that:

 "Many utilities will incur premature retirement losses on an ongoing basis after adoption of IFRS that are significant enough to be considered material for regulatory purposes."

So the reason we haven't provided it and are requesting or recommending the deferral account process is that we just really don't have the history to get a really good feel of when we will incur these losses that now have to be reported right through our P&L.

We could have determined some type of estimate, and then in the end that would have ended up in our OM&A request.  While not specifically an operating cost, it would be akin to a bad debts expense, as we talked about earlier today, in order to keep us whole, if you want to call it that, under an IFRS regime.  We didn't feel that would be the appropriate way to run it.  We've been attempting to run it through this year, as we've had to, as this is a comparative year for IFRS in 2011.

To Mr. Quesnelle's point earlier, it's required some system changes for us, numerous system changes, which we're running through now for the first time.  And we just don't have the experience for it.

So our request in the evidence is that within a period of two, three years, we will have a better feel for that and could potentially build it into an allowance of some kind, which would be part of our OM&A.

But until such time, we need to track it, it needs to be audited, and then it needs to be added to -- in our opinion, to a deferral account as a more appropriate methodology in the short term.

Some of the things we've been running into, as you can imagine, is these will come forward for a handful of different reasons.  One is failure of assets, prematurely.  Another is damage to plant, as we call it; somebody drives their car into a pole or into a transformer somewhere, and writes it off for one reason or another.  Storm damage, and then in the case of storm damage, you know, we get 60, 70 poles knocked down in a year.  We then need to go back and determine:  Was that pole line fully depreciated or not?  If it's fully depreciated, it's not relevant to this loss.  If it's not fully depreciated, how much is left?

So there's a lot of granularity of detail required that we are -- we have no experience with at this point.  We're starting to run it through this year.  But we believe it would just be more appropriate to have it run through a deferral account until such time as we have that experience, because it could be material for us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The thing I don't understand is the EDA and Hydro One and others made that argument to the Board, and the Board said, No, we don't agree.  It said the Board is not persuaded that a generic account is necessary, and goes on to give reasons and says specifically, Here's what we want you to do.

MR. SIMPSON:  Mm-hm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Give us a forecast and give us evidence of the probability of significant ongoing volatility.

MR. SIMPSON:  Mm-hm.  Mm-hm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You've given neither, have you?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, for the reasons I outline, we haven't, as we don't believe we could do a relevant forecast for those numbers until we have some experience.

What the Board denied, to my understanding, is a generic account, and made the point that specific utilities could request -- I assume could request on a one-by-one basis and make the point as to why they need one, or why it is more relevant or appropriate than a forecast that we just, frankly, don't have the experience to do, or the history to do.  So that's the basis of our request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're reading this as saying you can either provide a forecast or ask for a variance account?  That's not what it says to me, so...

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, my point is that we don't have a basis to do a forecast, and that my understanding of the Board's finding in this case, is that it would not be a generic account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so can you tell me where in your application you provide evidence that, quote, "demonstrate the probability of significant ongoing volatility"?  I'm quoting the Board's policy.  Where is that evidence in your material?

MR. SIMPSON:  Well, the evidence that we've provided is that we don't have a basis to do a forecast.  Could this be material for us?  We need some experience with it in order to determine that, and a deferral account would appear to be a reasonable way and an appropriate way to track our experience for a period of time, and we're suggesting two to three years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I apologize for going over my time by quite a long margin, but that's it.  I'm finished.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll take some responsibility for that, Mr. Shepherd.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Helt, do you have questions?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt


MS. HELT:  Yes.  And you'll be happy to hear I only have two or three questions, and it's solely with respect to the deferral account in relation to asset disposals.

Hydro Ottawa has indicated that the gains or losses on pooled assets would be identified separately and reclassified to a depreciation expense.  This is found in J4-1-1, which is page 69 of Board Staff's compendium.

Could you just clarify how the reclassification would trigger the need for a deferral account?

MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry, you may have to help me with the question, how the reclassification will trigger the need for a deferral account?  The need for the deferral account, to our mind, is triggered by the fact that we don't have the history to forecast the impact of these potential write-offs that we will now have to run through our P&L.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MR. SIMPSON:  I may have missed the exact line you're looking at.  I'm not sure.

MS. HELT:  No, that's fine.

If we go, then, to page 65 of the Board Staff compendium, J1-1.  And at line 13, I believe it is, Hydro Ottawa -- this is what you've said, that:
"Hydro Ottawa has material difficulties in forecasting the gains and losses on disposal of pooled assets, and therefore nothing has been included in this rate application as estimation of gains or losses for disposal of pooled assets."

From that, can you confirm that the depreciation expenses are calculated using a group depreciation method for 2011 and 2012 and if they include an element of gains and losses from historical years?

MR. SIMPSON:  There would be no inclusion of gains and losses from historical years on pooled assets.  We did not track gains and losses on pooled assets in previous years under CGAAP.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Then how did Hydro Ottawa come up with the excluded numbers, that Hydro Ottawa stated it doesn't have sufficient historical data for reliable trend analysis?  So, basically, I'm trying to find out, if you didn't have the data, then how did you come up with the numbers that you've excluded?

MR. SIMPSON:  Numbers that we have excluded?

MS. HELT:  From the depreciation expenses of the pooled assets.

MS. SCOTT:  I'm not exactly sure what you mean, the numbers that have been excluded from the depreciation.

MS. HELT:  Well, then perhaps I should ask initially, then:  Are you proposing to exclude losses or gains from the depreciation expenses of the pooled assets?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SIMPSON:  That's what we would be proposing would go into the deferral account.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Then how would you come up with the number, then, that would be excluded?

MR. SIMPSON:  I'm struggling a little bit with the link to depreciation expense, and it could be perhaps that I've taken us there.  But if an asset is taken out of service, one reason or another, has a net book value on our books, it's not fully depreciated, that net book value comes off and is written off through our P&L.  That becomes an expense on our P&L.

Those are the amounts that we say we cannot reasonably forecast, because we don't have a history on our pooled assets of doing that.

Once that net book value is removed from our fixed asset ledger and written off through our P&L, the depreciation expense going forward is based on the revised net book value, which no longer includes the de-recognized asset.

MS. HELT:  Okay.  That's fine, then.  Thank you.
Questions by the Board

MS. HARE:  I would like to better understand your involvement in the Kinectrics study.

You were one of six distributors that participated.  Was it a paper exercise, or did Kinectrics come and look at your assets, or did they ask you your opinion and you gave that to them?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes, they asked us for our opinion.  They asked us -- they had their list of assets, basically, that they started with, and they did a survey, basically, of utilities, their assets, their expected -- well, there was two sides to it.  It was the technical life, and then once we got into the technical life, then was the practical life, if you like.

And that's why they came up with that range, and then the categories that could impact the age of your -- or the expected depreciation or life of your assets.

MS. HARE:  So you know what numbers you gave them, and then you saw the report.  And the numbers that you gave them, are those the same numbers that you're using in your study?

MR. BENNETT:  Basically.  There were some changes when the report came back, so I'll give you an example.

We, Toronto and Horizon all use the PILC primary cable in our downtown cores.  And when we looked at it, we initially included the cable life along with the underground assets.  So, for example, the underground examples that we gave a 40-year life, we said, When we're replacing that, we'll replace the cable.  So we gave it a 40-year life.

The Kinectrics report came out with a longer life.  I think it's 65, maybe, in theirs.  I can't remember.

So we looked at it again and we said, You know what?  From a practical point of view, there's two things that we could or would do.  Either we would rebuild the duct bank around the cable, or we could remove the cable carefully and reuse the cable.

And so that was one where we, after much discussion, just said probably their use useful life is a closer estimation for the practical.





MR. SIMPSON:  Sorry if there was a follow-up.  I was just going to add a little bit to that.

The Kinectrics experience was far more an engineering experience than an accounting one, but I'll tell you my take on it.

Kinectrics did come and meet with us, with our accountants and many engineers.  One thing just to keep in mind with that, though, to your question of whether the numbers we gave them or what we're using, is Kinectrics specifically asked us to give them our technical useful lives rather than our economic lives, as we refer to them.

And as noted before, we were well down the road of our analysis.  So we'd been through our technical lives, and in some cases, based on asset management planning and local conditions, created our economic lives.

What Kinectrics asked us for was the technical lives, and then our rating of the six factors that they asked all of the six of us to use.

And I don't know what those six factors were anymore, because I'm looking at the SEC page and they're in short forms, but is it high, medium, low, as to whether these factors would impact the technical life?

So there's not necessarily going to be a direct link between what we've actually used and what we gave to Kinectrics, because they were looking for technical lives at that point.

MS. HARE:  Well, so now I'm a bit confused.  In figuring out the depreciation, you're using the technical life, aren't you?

MR. BENNETT:  No.

MS. HARE:  What are you using?

MR. BENNETT:  We're using the useful life.  So for example, I'll give you an example that was highlighted there.  A distribution transformer installed and under no duress whatsoever, technical life could be 50 years.

So then Kinectrics looked at it and said:  Okay.  Well, let's look at it from a mechanical stress, electrical loading, operating practice and environmental conditions, and what's the practical useful life in your usage, in your environment?

So depending on what your approach is, utilities could have an approach, you know, where I put a transformer up and I load it over a hundred percent and I'm happy to live with the reduced useful life of that transformer.  I think that's the best way to go.

Other utilities would put it up and say:  I'm going to lightly load it and hope it lasts longer.

But at any rate, that's how they came up with these categories, so to speak.

MR. QUESNELLE:  On that -- and I understand a little better now the iteration between your asset management plan as a -- informing what you looked at from your analysis.  Have you gone back to your asset management plan and made any changes?

The example that you provided earlier about oil leaks in a transformer, which is kind of an operating practice, have you changed any of your operating practices as it relates to asset management, that you have a 30-year life-cycle now, that you will put in place a change-out program for those transformers?

MR. BENNETT:  Yes and no.  The answer -- the asset management plan started out in 2005 as a strictly, I would say, technical look at the assets.  And so it looked at the technical useful life and suggested that, you know, you need to get these things replaced in that type of time period.  And that was a starting point.  And we had some outside experts participate in this in a couple of iterations of that.

What we've done, I guess, in the asset management plan is we've -- as we've gone along, is we've updated the information every year that we've gathered, and we've increased, if you like, the inspection.  And we actually this year set up to put much more information in our GIS to track, both for our technical purposes and for financial purposes, age, asset condition, et cetera, of our assets, and use that information in our annual planning, five-year planning information.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So for any asset other than the ones that are run to failure, would you say that the asset management plan will eventually have a change-out program that would be informed by or at least be in concert with, commensurate with your economic values?

MR. BENNETT:  Based on the IFRS stuff, yes.  That would be the direction that we would go.

I think a good example of that would be sort of our station transformers.  So in this process of going through increased inspection, increased gas analysis, the IFRS process, the rigour around that, we've identified we need to ramp up the replacement of station transformers.

And so the asset management plan will match fairly closely the IFRS information.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It's directional.  At this point, that hasn't been accomplished?  Okay.

MR. BENNETT:  It will be an ongoing process, for sure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Cass, do you have any redirect?

MR. CASS:  No, I do not, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The panel is then excused, with the Board's thanks.  I think that we found all of the witnesses very helpful.

Let me just speak now about schedule.  So Mr. Cass, we'll hear argument in-chief orally Thursday at 11:00 o'clock.  Staff will still file written submissions on the 18th, and intervenors will file written submissions on the 22nd of November.  With that, we're adjourned.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:50 p.m.
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